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THE CORFU CHANNEL CASE (MERITS) 18

“c®* Itis clear that knowledge of the minelaying cannot be imputed
to the Albanian Government by reason merely of the fact that
a minefield discovered in Albanian territorial waters caused the
explosions of which the British warships were the victims. It
is true, as international practice shows, that a State on whose
territory or in whose waters an act contrary to international
law has occurred, may be called upon to give an explanation.
[t is also true that that State cannot evade such a request by
limiting itself to a reply that it is ignorant of the circumstances
of the act and of its authors. The State may, up to a certain
point, be bound to supply particulars of the use made by it of
the means of information and inquiry at its disposal. But it
cannot be concluded from the mere fact of the control exercised
by a State over its territory and waters that that State necessarily
knew, or ought to have known, of any unlawful act perpetrated
therein, nor yet that it necessarily knew, or should have known,
the authors. This fact, by itself and apart from.other circum-
stances, neither involves prima facic respansibility nor shifts
the burden of proof.

On the other hand, the fact of this exclusive territorial control
exercised by a State within its frontiers has a bearing upon the
methods of proof available to establish the knowledge of that
State as to such events. By reason of this exclusive control,
the other State, the. victim of a breach of international law, is
often unable to furnish direct proof of facts giving rise to
responsibility. Such a State should be allowed a more liberal
recourse to inferences of fact and circumstantial evidence. This
indirect evidence is admitted in all systems of law, and its use
is recognized by international decisions. It must be regarded
as of special weight when it is based on a series of facts linked
together and leading logically to a single conclusion.

The Court must examine therefore whether it has been established
by means of indirect evidence that Albania has knowledge of mine-
laying in her lerritorial waters independently of any connivance
on her part in this operation.  The proof may be drawn from
inferences of fact, provided that they leave no room for reasonable
doubt. The clements of fact on which these inferences can be
based may differ from those which are relevant to the question of
connivance.

In the present case, two series of facts, which corroborate one
another, have to be considered : the first relates to Albania's
attitude before and after the disaster of October 22nd, 1946 ; the
other concerns the feasibility of observing minelaying from the
Albanian coast.

Vo

In fact, nothing was attempted by the Albanian authorities to
prevent the disaster. These grave omissions involve the inter-
national responsibility of Albania. )

The Court therefore reaches the conclusion that Albania is
responsible under international law for the explosions which
ocemred on October 22nd, 1946, in Albanian waters, and for
the damage and loss of human life which resulted from them,
and that there is a duty upon Albania to pay corpensation to
the United Kingdom.

*
* *





[image: image2.jpg]question are said 10 represent a tactic which includes “the spreading of
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observe humanitarijan standards and no reference to the concept of milj-
lary necessity”. In support of thjs, Nicaragua has catalogued numerous
incidents, attributed to “ClA-trained mercenaries” or “mercenary forces™,
of kidnapping, assassination, torure, rape, killing of prisoners, and killing
of civilians not dictated by military necessity. The declaration of Com-
mander Carrién annexed to the Memorial lists the first such incident in

called by Nicaragua (Father Loison and M, Glennon) gave oral evidence
as to events of this kind. By way of examples of evidence to provide “dircct

Government. Consequently, any offences which they have committed
would be imputable 1o the Government of the United States, like those of
any other forces placed under the latter’s command. In the view of Nica-
ragua, “stricto sensu, the military and paramilitary attacks launched by the
United States against Nicaragua do not conslituie a case of civil strife.
They are essentially the acts of the United States.” If such afinding of the
impu!abi!i(y of the acts of the contras to the United States were 1o be made,
10 question would arise of mere complicily in those acts, or of incitement
of the contras 1o commit them.

115. The Court has taken the view (paragraph 110 above) that United
i erant or decisive, in (he financing,

the selection

r military or
ragua. All the forms of United States
. and even the general control by the res-

States. it would in principle have 10 be proved that that State had effective
control of the military or paramilitary operations in the course of which the
alleged violations were committed.

116. The Court does not consider that the assistance given by the
United States to the coniras warrants the conclusion that these forees are
subject to the Uniled States 10 such an extent that any acts they have
committed are imputable 16 that State. 1 takes the view tha the contray
remain responsible for thejr acts, and that the United States is not respon-
sible for the acts of the contras, but for its own conduct vis-i-vis Nicurugu;L
including conduct related to the acts of the contras. What the Court has to
investigate is not the complaints relating to alleged violations of humuni-
tarian law by the coniras. regarded by Nicaragua as imputable to the
United States. but rather unlawful acts for which the United States iy be
responsible directly in connection with the activities of (he contras,
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56. The principal facts material for the Court's decision on the merits of
the present case have been set ou 't earlier in this Judgment. Thosc facts have
to be looked at by the Court from two points of view. First, it must
determine how far, legally, the acts in question may be regarded as im-
putable to the Iranian State. Secondly, it must consider their compatibility
or incompatibility with the obligations of Iran under treaties in force or
under any other rules of international law that may be applicable. The
events which are the subject of the United States' claims fall into two
phases which it will be convenient to examine separately.

57. The first of these phases covers the armed attack on the United
States Embassy by militants on 4 November 1979, the overrunning of its
premises, the seizure of its inmates as hostages, the appropriation of its
property and archives and the conduct of the Iranian authoritics in the face
of those occurrences. The attack and the subsequent overrunning, bit by
bit, of the whole Embassy premises, was an operation which continued
over a period of some three hours without any body of police, any military
unit or any Iranian official intervening to try to stop or impede it from
being carried through to its completion. The result of the attack was
considerable damage to the Embassy premises and property, the forcible
opening and seizure of its archives, the confiscation of the archives and
other documents found in the Embassy and. most grave of all, the scizure
by force of its diplomatic and consular personnel as hostages, together with
two United States nationals.

58. Nosuggestion has been made that the militants, when they exceuted
their attack on the Embassy, had any form of official status as recognized
“agents” or organs of the Iranian State. Their conduct in mounting the
attack, overrunning the Embassy and seizing its inmates as hostages can-
not, therefore, be regarded as imputable to that State on that basis. Their
conduct might be considered as itself directly imputable to the Iranian
Stateonly if it werc established that, in fact, on the occasion in question the
militants acted on behalf on the State, having been charged by some
competent organ of the Iranian State to carry out a specific operation. The
information before the Court does not, however, suffice to cstablish with
the requisite certainty the existence at that time of such alink between the
militants and any competent organ of the State,

59. Previously, it is true, the religious leader of the country, the Aya-
tollah Khomeini, had made several public declarations inveighing against
the United States as responsible for all his country's problems. Inso doing.
it would appear. the Ayafollah Khomeini was giving utterance to the
general resentment felt by supporters of the revolution at the admission of
the former Shah to the United States. The information before the Court
also indicates that a spokesman for the militants, in explaining their action
alterwards, did expressly refer to a message issued by the Ayatollah
Khomeini, on 1 November 1979. In that message the Ayatollah Khomeini
had declared that it was “up to the dear pupils, students and theological
students to expand with all their might their attacks against the United
States and [srael, so they may force the United States to return the deposed
-and criminal shah..and to.condemn this great plot” (that is. a plot to stir up

dissension between the main streams of Islamic thought). In the view of the

Coprl, however, it would be 80ing too far to interpret such general decla-
rations of the Ayatollah Khomeini to the people or students of Iran as

amounting to an authorization from the State to undertake the specific

operation of invading and seizing the United States Embassy. Bile
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69. The second phase of the events which are the subject of the United
States’ claims comprises the whole series of facts which occurred following
the completion of the occupation of the United States Embassy by the
militants, and the seizure of the Consulates at Tabriz and Shiraz. The
occupation having taken place and the diplomatic and consular personnel
of the United States’ mission having been taken hostage, the action
required of the Iranian Government by the Vienna Conventions and by
general international law was manifest. Its plain duty was at once to make
every effort, and to take every appropriate step, to bring these flagrant
infringements of the inviolability of the premises, archives and diplomatic
and consular staff of the United States Embassy toa speedy end, to restore
the Consulates at Tabriz and Shiraz to United States control, and in
general to re-establish the status quo and to offer reparation for the
damage.

70. No such step was, however, taken by the Iranian authorities. At a
press conference on 5 November the Foreign Minister, Mr. Yazdi, con-
ceded that “according to international regulations the Iranian Govern-
mentis dutybound to safeguard the life and properly of foreign nationals”.
But he made no mention of Iran’s obligation to safeguard the inviolability
of foreign embassies and diplomats ; and he ended by announcing that the
action of the students “‘enjoys the endorsement and support of the gov-
ernment, because America herself is responsible for this incident”. As to
the Prime Minister, Mr. Bazargan, he does not appear to have made any
statement on the matter before resigning his office on 5 November.

71. In any event expressions of approval of the take-over of the Em-
bassy, and indeed also of the Consulates at Tabriz and Shiraz, by militants
came immediately from numerous Iranian authorities, including religious,
Judicial, executive, police and broadcasting authorities. Above all, the
Ayatollah Khomeini himself made crystal clear the endorsement by the
State both of the take-over of the Embassy and Consulates and of the

detention of the Embassy staff as hostages..." 28

® a0

74. The policy thus announced by the Ayatollah Khomeini, of main-
taining the occupation of the Embassy and the detention of its mm-am as
hostages for the purpose of exerting pressure on I_hft .Unncd States Gov-
ernment was complied with by other Iranian authorities and endorsed t?y
them repeatedly in statements made in various contexts. The rcsul} of that
policy was fundamentally to transform the legal nature 9f the :"W‘?“‘"‘
created by the occupation of the Embassy and the detention of its diplo-
matic and consular staff as hostages. The approval given 1o these facts by
the Ayatollah Khomeini and other organs of l‘he‘lrunmn State, and th:
decision to perpetuate them, translated continuing occupation of the
Embassy and detention of the hostages into acts of that State. The mili-
tants, authors of the invasion and jailers of the hostages, had now become
agents of the Iranian State for whose acts the State itsell way internation-
ally responsible.
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VIL The question of responsibility for events at Srebrenica under Article II1, paragraph (a),
of the Genocide Convention :

(1) The alleged admission

377. The Court first notes that the Applicant contends that the Respondent has in fact
recognized that genocide was committed at Srebrenica, and has accepted legal responsibility for it.
The Applicant called attention to the following official declaration made by the Council of
Ministers of the Respondent on 15 June 2005, following the showing on a Belgrade television
channel on 2 June 2005 of a video-recording of the murder by a paramilitary unit of six Bosnian
Muslim prisoners near Srebrenica (paragraph 289 above). The statement reads as follows:

“Those who committed the killings in Srebrenica, as well as those who ordered
and organized that massacre represented neither Serbia nor Montenegro, but an
undemocratic regime of terror and death, against whom the majority of citizens of
Serbia and Montenegro put up the strongest resistance.

Our condemnation of crimes in Srebrenica does not end with the direct
perpetrators.  We demand the criminal responsibility of all who committed war
crimes, organized them or ordered them, and not only in Srebrenica.

Criminals must not be heroes. Any protection of the war criminals, for
whatever reason, is also a crime.”

The Applicant requests the Court to declare that this declaration “be regarded as a form of
admission and as having decisive probative force regarding the attributability to the Yugoslav State
of the Srebrenica massacre”.

378. It is for the Court to determine whether the Respondent is responsible for any acts of -
genocide which may be established. For purposes of a finding of this kind the Court may take into
account any statements made by either party that appear to bear upon the matters in issue, and have
been brought to its attention (cf. Nuclear Tests (Australia v. France), Judgments, 1.C.J. Reports
1974, pp. 263 ff., paras. 32 ff.; (New Zealand v. France), ibid., pp. 465 ff., paras. 27 ff.; Frontier
Dispute (Burkina Faso/Republic of Malij, Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1986, pp.573-574,
paras. 38-39), and may accord to them such legal effect as may be appropriate. However, in the
present case, it appears to the Court that the declaration of 15 June 2005 was of a political nature;
it was clearly not intended as an admission, which would have had a legal effect in complete
contradiction to the submissions made by the Respondent before this Court, both at the time of the
declaration and subsequently. The Court therefore does not find the statement of 15 June 2005 of
assistance to it in determining the issues before it in the case.
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~ (2) The test of responsibility

379. In view of the foregoing conclusions, the Court now must ascertain whether the
international responsibility of the Respondent can have been incurred, on whatever basis, in
connection with the massacres committed in the Srebrenica area during the period in question. For
the reasons set out above, those massacres constituted the crime of genocide within the meaning of
the Convention. For this purpose, the Court may be required to consider the following three issues
in turn. First, it needs to be determined whether the acts of genocide could be attributed to the
Respondent under the rules of customary international law of State responsibility; this means
ascertaining whether the acts were committed by persons or organs whose conduct is attributable,
specifically in the case of the events at Srebrenica, to the Respondent. Second, the Court will need
to ascertain whether acts of the kind referred to in Article IIl of the Convention, other than
genocide itself, were committed by persons or organs whose conduct is attributable to the
Respondent under those same rules of State responsibility: that is to say, the acts referred to in
Article 111, paragraphs (b) to (e), one of these being complicity in genocide. Finally, it will be for
the Court to rule on the issue as to whether the Respondent complied with its twofold obligation
deriving from Article I of the Convention to prevent and punish genocide.

380. These three issues must be addressed in the order set out above, because they are so
interrelated that the answer on one point may affect the relevance or significance of the others.
Thus, if and to the extent that consideration of the first issue were to lead to the conclusion that
some acts of genocide are attributable to the Respondent, it would be unnecessary to determine
whether it may also have incurred responsibility under Article III, paragraphs (b) to (e), of the
Convention for the same acts. Even though it is theoretically possible for the same acts to result in
the attribution to a State of acts of genocide (contemplated by Art. I1I, para. (a)), conspiracy to
commit genocide (Art. 111, para. (b)), and direct and public incitement to commit genocide (Art. 11,
para. (c)), there would be little point, where the requirements for attribution are fulfilled under (a),
in making a judicial finding that they are also satisfied under (b) and (¢), since responsibility
under (a) absorbs that under the other two. The idea of holding the same State responsible by
attributing to it acts of “genocide” (Art. 11, para. (a)), “attempt to commit genocide” (Art. 11,
para. (d)), and “complicity in genocide” (Art. III, para. (e)), in relation to the same actions, must be
rejected as untenable both logically and legally.

381. On the other hand, there is no doubt that a finding by the Court that no acts that
constitute genocide, within the meaning of Article Il and Article III, paragraph (a), of the
Convention, can be attributed to the Respondent will not free the Court from the obligation to
determine whether the Respondent’s responsibility may nevertheless have been incurred through
the attribution to it of the acts, or some of the acts, referred to in Article III, paragraphs () to (e).
In particular, it is clear that acts of complicity in genocide can be attributed to a State to which no
act of genocide could be attributed under the rules of State responsibility, the content of which will
be considered below.
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382. Furthermore, the question whether the Respondent has complied with its obligations to
prevent and punish genocide arises in different terms, depending on the replies to the two preceding
questions. It is only if the Court answers the first two questions in the negative that it will have to
consider whether the Respondent fulfilled its obligation of prevention, in relation to the whole
accumulation of facts constituting genocide. If a State is held responsible for an act of genocide
(because it was committed by a person or organ whose conduct is attributable to the State), or for
one of the other acts referred to in Article III of the Convention (for the same reason), then there is
no point in asking whether it complied with its obligation of prevention in respect of the same acts,
because logic dictates that a State cannot have satisfied an obligation to prevent genocide in which
it actively participated. On the other hand, it is self-evident, as the Parties recognize, that if a State
is not responsible for any of the acts referred to in Article III, paragraphs (a) to (e), of the
Convention, this does not mean that its responsibility cannot be sought for a violation of the
obligation to prevent genocide and the other acts referred to in Article I11.

383. Finally, it should be made clear that, while, as noted above, a State’s responsibility
deriving from any of those acts renders moot the question whether it satisfied its obligation of
prevention in respect of the same conduct, it does not necessarily render superfluous the question
whether the State complied with its obligation to punish the perpetrators of the acts in question. It
is perfectly possible for a State to incur responsibility at once for an act of genocide (or complicity
in genocide, incitement to commit genocide, or any of the other acts enumerated in Article IIT)
committed by a person or organ whose conduct is attributable to it, and for the breach by the State
of its obligation to punish the perpetrator of the act: these are two distinct internationally wrongful
acts attributable to the State, and both can be asserted against it as bases for its international
responsibility.

384. Having thus explained the interrelationship among the three issues set out above
(paragraph 379), the Court will now proceed to consider the first of them. This is the question
whether the massacres committed at Srebrenica during the period in question, which constitute the
crime of genocide within the meaning of Articles II and II1, paragraph (a), of the Convention, are
attributable, in whole or in part, to the Respondent. This question has in fact two aspects, which
the Court must consider separately. First, it should be ascertained whether the acts committed at
Srebrenica were perpetrated by organs of the Respondent, i.e., by persons or entities whose conduct
is necessarily attributable to it, because they are in fact the instruments of its action. Next, if the
preceding question is answered in the negative, it should be ascertained whether the acts in
question were committed by persons who, while not organs of the Respondent, did nevertheless act
on the instructions of, or under the direction or control of, the Respondent.
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(3) The question of attribution of the Srebrenica genocide to the Respondent on the basis of
the conduct of its organs

385. The first of these two questions relates to the well-established rule, one of the
cornerstones of the law of State responsibility, that the conduct of any State organ is to be
considered an act of the State under international law, and therefore gives rise to the responsibility
of the State if it constitutes a breach of an international obligation of the State. This rule, which is
one of customary international law, is reflected in Article 4 of the ILC Articles on State
Responsibility as follows:

“Article 4
Conduct of organs of a State

1. The conduct of any State organ shall be considered an act of that State under
international law, whether the organ exercises legislative, executive, judicial or any
other functions, whatever position it holds in the organization of the State, and
whatever its character as an organ of the central Government or of a territorial unit of
the State.

2. An organ includes any person or entity which has that status in accordance
with the internal law of the State.”

386. When applied to the present case, this rule first calls for a determination whether the
acts of genocide committed in Srebrenica were perpetrated by “persons or entities” having the
status of organs of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (as the Respondent was known at the time)
under its intemnal law, as then in force. It must be said that there is nothing which could justify an
affirmative response to this question. It has not been shown that the FRY army took part in the
massacres, nor that the political leaders of the FRY had a hand in preparing, planning or in any way
carrying out the massacres. It is true that there is much evidence of direct or indirect participation
by the official ammy of the FRY, along with the Bosnian Serb armed forces, in military operations
in Bosnia and Herzegovina in the years prior to the events at Srebrenica. That participation was
repeatedly condemned by the political organs of the United Nations, which demanded that the FRY
put an end to it (see, for example, Security Council resolutions 752 (1992), 757 (1992), 762 (1992),
819(1993), 838 (1993)). It has however not been shown that there was any such participation in
relation to the massacres committed at Srebrenica (see also paragraphs 278 to 297 above). Further,
neither the Republika Srpska, nor the VRS were de jure organs of the FRY, since none of them had
the status of organ of that State under its internal law.

387. The Applicant has however claimed that all officers in the VRS, including
General Mladi¢, remained under FRY military administration, and that their salaries were paid
from Belgrade right up to 2002, and accordingly contends that these officers “were de jure organs
of [the FRY], intended by their superiors to serve in Bosnia and Herzegovina with the VRS”. On
this basis it has been alleged by the Applicant that those officers, in addition to being officers of the
VRS, remained officers of the VJ, and were thus de jure organs of the Respondent (paragraph 238
above). The Respondent however asserts that only some of the VRS officers were being
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“administered” by the 30th Personnel Centre in Belgrade, so that matters like their payment,
promotion, pension, etc., were being handled from the FRY (paragraph 238 above); and that it has
not been clearly established whether General Mladi¢ was one of them. The Applicant has shown
that the promotion of Mladié¢ to the rank of Colonel General on 24 June 1994 was handled in
Belgrade, but the Respondent emphasizes that this was merely a verification for administrative
purposes of a promotion decided by the authorities of the Republika Srpska.

388. The Court notes first that no evidence has been presented that either General Mladié or
any of the other officers whose affairs were handled by the 30th Personnel Centre were, according
to the internal law of the Respondent, officers of the army of the Respondent — a de jure organ of
the Respondent. Nor has it been conclusively established that General Mladi¢ was one of those
officers; and even on the basis that he might have been, the Court does not consider that he would,
for that reason alone, have to be treated as an organ of the FRY for the purposes of the application
of the rules of State responsibility. There is no doubt that the FRY was providing substantial
support, inter alia, financial support, to the Republika Srpska (cf. paragraph 241 above), and that
one of the forms that support took was payment of salaries and other benefits to some officers of
the VRS, but this did not automatically make them organs of the FRY. Those officers were
appointed to their commands by the President of the Republika Srpska, and were subordinated to
the political leadership of the Republika Srpska. In the absence of evidence to the contrary, those
officers must be taken to have received their orders from the Republika Srpska or the VRS, not
from the FRY. The expression “State organ”, as used in customary international law and in
Article 4 of the ILC Articles, applies to one or other of the individual or collective entities which
make up the organization of the State and act on its behalf (cf. ILC Commentary to Art. 4,
para. (1)). The functions of the VRS officers, including General Mladi¢, were however to act on
behalf of the Bosnian Serb authorities, in particular the Republika Srpska, not on behalf of the
FRY; they exercised elements of the public authority of the Republika Srpska. The particular
situation of General Mladi¢, or of any other VRS officer present at Srebrenica who may have been
being “administered” from Belgrade, is not therefore such as to lead the Court to modify the
conclusion reached in the previous paragraph.

389. The issue also arises as to whether the Respondent might bear responsibility for the acts
of the “Scorpions” in the Srebrenica area. In this connection, the Court will consider whether it has
been proved that the Scorpions were a de jure organ of the Respondent. It is in dispute between the
Parties as to when the “Scorpions” became incorporated into the forces of the Respondent. The
Applicant has claimed that incorporation occurred by a decree of 1991 (which has not been
produced as an Annex). The Respondent states that “these regulations [were] relevant exclusively
for the war in Croatia in 1991” and that there is no evidence that they remained in force in 1992 in
Bosnia and Herzegovina. The Court observes that, while the single State of Yugoslavia was
disintegrating at that time, it is the status of the “Scorpions” in mid-1995 that is of relevance to the
present case. In two of the intercepted documents presented by the Applicant (the authenticity of
which was queried — see paragraph 289 above), there is reference to the “Scorpions” as “MUP of
Serbia” and “a unit of Ministry of Interiors of Serbia”. The Respondent identified the senders of
these communications, Ljubisa Borov&anin and Savo Cvjetinovi¢, as being “officials of the police
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forces of Republika Srpska”. The Court observes that neither of these communications was
addressed to Belgrade. Judging on the basis of these materials, the Court is unable to find that the
“Scorpions” were, in mid-1995, de jure organs of the Respondent. Furthermore, the Court notes
that in any event the act of an organ placed by a State at the disposal of another public authority
shall not be considered an act of that State if the organ was acting on behalf of the public authority
at whose disposal it had been placed.

390. The argument of the Applicant however goes beyond mere contemplation of the status,
under the Respondent’s internal law, of the persons who committed the acts of genocide; it argues
that Republika Srpska and the VRS, as well as the paramilitary militias known as the “Scorpions”,
the “Red Berets”, the “Tigers” and the “White Eagles” must be deemed, notwithstanding their
apparent status, to have been “de facto organs” of the FRY, in particular at the time in question, so
that all of their acts, and specifically the massacres at Srebrenica, must be considered attributable to
the FRY, just as if they had been organs of that State under its internal law; reality must prevail
over appearances. The Respondent rejects this contention, and maintains that these were not
de facto organs of the FRY.

391. The first issue raised by this argument is whether it is possible in principle to attribute
to a State conduct of persons— or groups of persons — who, while they do not have the legal
status of State organs, in fact act under such strict control by the State that they must be treated as
its organs for purposes of the necessary attribution leading to the State’s responsibility for an
internationally wrongful act. The Court has in fact already addressed this question, and given an
answer to it in principle, in its Judgment of 27 June 1986 in the case concerning Military and
Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua (Nicaragua v. United States of America) (Merits,
Judgment, .C.J. Reports 1986, pp. 62-64). In paragraph 109 of that Judgment the Court stated that
it had to

“determine . .. whether or not the relationship of the contras to the United States
Government was so much one of dependence on the one side and control on the other
that it would be right to equate the contras, for legal purposes, with an organ of the
United States Government, or as acting on behalf of that Government” (p. 62).

Then, examining the facts in the light of the information in its possession, the Court observed that
“there is no clear evidence of the United States having actually exercised such a degree of control
in all fields as to justify treating the contras as acting on its behalf” (para. 109), and went on to
conclude that “the evidence available to the Court . . . is insufficient to demonstrate [the contras’]
complete dependence on United States aid”, so that the Court was “unable to determine that the
contra force may be equated for legal purposes with the forces of the United States” (pp. 62-63,
para. 110).

392. The passages quoted show that, according to the Court’s jurisprudence, persons, groups
of persons or entities may, for purposes of international responsibility, be equated with State organs
even if that status does not follow from internal law, provided that in fact the persons, groups or
entities act in “complete dependence” on the State, of which they are ultimately merely the
instrument. In such a case, it is appropriate to look beyond legal status alone, in order to grasp the
reality of the relationship between the person taking action, and the State to which he is so closely

AL
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attached as to appear to be nothing more than its agent: any other solution would allow States to
escape their intemational responsibility by choosing to act through persons or entities whose
supposed independence would be purely fictitious.

393. However, s0 to equate persons or entities with State organs when they do not have that
status under internal law must be exceptional, for it requires proof of a particularly great degree of
State control over them, a relationship which the Court’s Judgment quoted above expressly
described as “complete dependence”. It remains to be determined in the present case whether, at
the time in question, the persons or entities that committed the acts of genocide at Srebrenica had
such ties with the FRY that they can be deemed to have been completely dependent on it; it is only
if this condition is met that they can be equated with organs of the Respondent for the purposes of
its international responsibility.

394. The Court can only answer this question in the negative. At the relevant time,
July 1995, neither the Republika Srpska nor the VRS could be regarded as mere instruments
through which the FRY was acting, and as lacking any real autonomy. While the political, military
and logistical relations between the federal authorities in Belgrade and the authorities in Pale,
between the Yugoslav army and the VRS, had been strong and close in previous years (see
paragraph 238 above), and these ties undoubtedly remained powerful, they were, at least at the
relevant time, not such that the Bosnian Serbs’ political and military organizations should be
equated with organs of the FRY. It is even true that differences over strategic options emerged at
the time between Yugoslav authorities and Bosnian Serb leaders; at the very least, these are
evidence that the latter had some qualified, but real, margin of independence. Nor, notwithstanding
the very important support given by the Respondent to the Republika Srpska, without which it
could not have “conduct(ed] its crucial or most significant military and paramilitary activities”
(L.C.J. Reports 1986, p. 63, para. 111), did this signify a total dependence of the Republika Srpska
upon the Respondent.

395. The Court now turns to the question whether the “Scorpions” were in fact acting in
complete dependence on the Respondent. The Court has not been presented with materials to
indicate this. The Court also notes that, in giving his evidence, General Dannatt, when asked under
whose control or whose authority the paramilitary groups coming from Serbia were operating,
replied, “they would have been under the command of Mladi¢ and part of the chain of the
command of the VRS”. The Parties referred the Court to the Stanisi¢ and Simatovié¢ case
(IT-03-69, pending); notwithstanding that the defendants are not charged with genocide in that
case, it could have its relevance for illuminating the status of the “Scorpions” as Serbian MUP or
otherwise. However, the Court cannot draw further conclusions as this case remains at the
indictment stage. In this respect, the Court recalls that it can only form its opinion on the basis of
the information which has been brought to its notice at the time when it gives its decision, and
which emerges from the pleadings and documents in the case file, and the arguments of the Parties
made during the oral exchanges.

The Court therefore finds that the acts of genocide at Srebrenica cannot be attributed to the
Respondent as having been committed by its organs or by persons or entities wholly dependent
upon it, and thus do not on this basis entail the Respondent's international responsibility.
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(4) The question of attribution of the Srebrenica genocide to the Respondent on the basis of
direction or control

396. As noted above (paragraph 384), the Court must now determine whether the massacres
at Srebrenica were committed by persons who, though not having the status of organs of the
Respondent, nevertheless acted on its instructions or under its direction or control, as the Applicant
argues in the alternative; the Respondent denies that such was the case.

397. The Court must emphasize, at this stage in its reasoning, that the question just stated is
not the same as those dealt with thus far. It is obvious that it is different from the question whether
the persons who committed the acts of genocide had the status of organs of the Respondent under
its internal law; nor however, and despite some appearance to the contrary, is it the same as the
question whether those persons should be equated with State organs de facto, even though not
enjoying that status under intemal law. The answer to the latter question depends, as previously
explained, on whether those persons were in a relationship of such complete dependence on the
State that they cannot be considered otherwise than as organs of the State, so that all their actions
performed in such capacity would be attributable to the State for purposes of international
responsibility. Having answered that question in the negative, the Court now addresses a
completely separate issue: whether, in the specific circumstances surrounding the events at
Srebrenica the perpetrators of genocide were acting on the Respondent’s instructions, or under its
direction or control. An affirmative answer to this question would in no way imply that the
perpetrators should be characterized as organs of the FRY, or equated with such organs. It would
merely mean that the FRY s international responsibility would be incurred owing to the conduct of
those of its own organs which gave the instructions or exercised the control resulting in the
commission of acts in breach of its international obligations. In other words, it is no longer a
question of ascertaining whether the persons who directly committed the genocide were acting as
organs of the FRY, or could be equated with those organs — this question having already been
answered in the negative. What must be determined is whether FRY organs— incontestably
having that status under the FRY’s internal law — originated the genocide by issuing instructions
to the perpetrators or exercising direction or control, and whether, as a result, the conduct of organs
of the Respondent, having been the cause of the commission of acts in breach of its intemational
obligations, constituted a violation of those obligations.

398. On this subject the applicable rule, which is one of customary law of international
responsibility, is laid down in Article 8 of the ILC Articles on State Responsibility as follows:
“Article 8
Conduct directed or controlled by a State
The conduct of a person or group of persons shall be considered an act of a
State under international law if the person or group of persons is in fact acting on the

instructions of, or under the direction or control of, that State in carrying out the
conduct.”

(S
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399. This provision must be understood in the light of the Court’s jurisprudence on the
subject, particularly that of the 1986 Judgment in the case concerning Military and Paramilitary
Activities in and against Nicaragua (Nicaragua v. United States of America) referred to above
(paragraph 391). In that Judgment the Court, as noted above, after having rejected the argument
that the contras were to be equated with organs of the United States because they were “completely
dependent” on it, added that the responsibility of the Respondent could still arise if it were proved
that it had itself “directed or enforced the perpetration of the acts contrary to human rights and
humanitarian law alleged by the applicant State” (1.C.J. Reports 1986, p. 64, para. 115); this led to
the following significant conclusion:

“For this conduct to give rise to legal responsibility of the United States, it
would in principle have to be proved that that State had effective control of the
military or paramilitary operations in the course of which the alleged violations were
committed.” (Ibid., p. 65.)

400. The test thus formulated differs in two respects from the test— described above — to
determine whether a person or entity may be equated with a State organ even if not having that
status under internal law. First, in this context it is not necessary to show that the persons who
performed the acts alleged to have violated international law were in general in a relationship of
“complete dependence” on the respondent State; it has to be proved that they acted in accordance
with that State's instructions or under its “effective control”. It must however be shown that this
“effective control” was exercised, or that the State’s instructions were given, in respect of each
operation in which the alleged violations occurred, not generally in respect of the overall actions
taken by the persons or groups of persons having committed the violations.

401. The Applicant has, it is true, contended that the crime of genocide has a particular
nature, in that it may be composed of a considerable number of specific acts separate, to a greater
or lesser extent, in time and space. According to the Applicant, this particular nature would justify,
among other consequences, assessing the “effective control” of the State allegedly responsible, not
in relation to each of these specific acts, but in relation to the whole body of operations carried out
by the direct perpetrators of the genocide. The Court is however of the view that the particular
characteristics of genocide do not justify the Court in departing from the criterion elaborated in the
Judgment in the case conceming Military and Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua
(Nicaraguav. United States of America) (see paragraph 399 above). The rules for attributing
alleged internationally wrongful conduct to a State do not vary with the nature of the wrongful act
in question in the absence of a clearly expressed lex specialis. Genocide will be considered as
attributable to a State if and to the extent that the physical acts constitutive of genocide that have
been committed by organs or persons other than the State’s own agents were carried out, wholly or
in part, on the instructions or directions of the State, or under its effective control. This is the state
of customary international law, as reflected in the ILC Articles on State Responsibility.

402. The Court notes however that the Applicant has further questioned the validity of
applying, in the present case, the criterion adopted in the Military and Paramilitary Activities
Judgment. It has drawn attention to the Judgment of the ICTY Appeals Chamber in the Tadi¢ case
(1T-94-1-A, Judgment, 15 July 1999). In that case the Chamber did not follow the jurisprudence of
the Court in the Military and Paramilitary Activities case: it held that the appropriate criterion,
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applicable in its view both to the characterization of the armed conflict in Bosnia and Herzegovina
as international, and to imputing the acts committed by Bosnian Serbs to the FRY under the law of
State responsibility, was that of the “overall contro]” exercised over the Bosnian Serbs by the FRY;
and further that that criterion was satisfied in the case (on this point, ibid,, para. 145). In other

First, the Court observes that the ICTY was not called upon in the Tadié case, nor is it in general
called upon, to rule on questions of State responsibility, since its Jurisdiction is criminal and
extends over persons only. Thus, in that Judgment the Tribunal addressed an issue which was not

importance to the factua] and legal findings made by the ICTY in ruling on the criminal liability of
the accused before jt and, in the present case, the Court takes fullest account of the ICTY’s trial and
appellate judgments dealing with the events underlying the dispute. The situation js not the same

resolving the two Issues, which are very different in nature: the degree and nature of a State’s
involvement in an armed conflict on another State’s territory which is required for the conflict to be
characterized as international, can very well, and without logical inconsistency, differ from the
degree and nature of involvement required to give rise to that State’s responsibility for a specific
act committed in the course of the conflict.

406. It must next be noted that the “overal| control” test has the major drawback of
broadening the scope of State responsibility well beyond the fundamental principle governing the

'S
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under internal law but which must nevertheless be equated with State organs because they are in a
relationship of complete dependence con the State. Apart from these cases, a State’s responsibility

can be incurred Tor acts commmitte PETsons or groups of persons — neither State organs nor to

be equated with such organs — only if, assuming those acts to be internationally wrongful, they are
attributable to it under the rule of customary international law reflected in Article 8 cited above
(paragraph 398). This is so where an organ of the State gave the instructions or provided the
direction pursuant to which the perpetrators of the wrongful act acted or where it exercised
effective control over the action during which the wrong was committed. In this regard the
“overall control” test is unsuitable, for it stretches too far, almost to breaking point, the connection
which must exist between the conduct of a State’s organs and its international responsibility.

407. Thus it is on the basis of its settled jurisprudence that the Court will determine whether
the Respondent has incurred responsibility under the rule of customary international law set out in
Article 8 of the ILC Articles on State Responsibility.

408. The Respondent has emphasized that in the final Jjudgments of the Chambers of the
ICTY relating to genocide in Srebrenica, none of its leaders have been found to have been
implicated. The Applicant does not challenge that reading, but makes the point that that issue has
not been before the ICTY for decision. The Court observes that the ICTY has indeed not up to the
present been directly concerned in final judgments with the question whether those leaders might
bear responsibility in that respect. The Court notes the fact that the report of the United Nations
Secretary-General does not establish any direct involvement by President MiloSevi¢ with the
massacre. The Court has already recorded the contacts between Milo3evi¢ and the United Nations
on 10 and 11 July (paragraph 285). On 14 July, as recorded in the Secretary-General’s Report,

apparently acceded to the various demands, but also claimed that he did not have
control over the matter. Milogevi¢ had also apparently explained, earlier in the
meeting, that the whole incident had been provoked by escalating Muslim attacks
from the enclave, in violation of the 1993 demilitarization agreement.

®w 9
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genocide-related convictions. Counsel for the Respondent also quoted from the evidence of the
Deputy Commander of Dutchbat, given in the Milosevié trial, in which the accused put to the
officer the point quoted earlier from the Epilogue to the Netherlands report. The officer responded:

“At least for me, I did not have any evidence that it was launched in
co-operation with Belgrade. And again, I read all kinds of reports and opinions and
papers where all kinds of scenarios were analysed, and so forth. Again, I do not have
any proof that the action, being the attack on the enclave, was launched in
co-operation with Belgrade.”

The other evidence on which the Applicant relied relates to the influence, rather than the
control, that President Miloevi¢ had or did not have over the authorities in Pale. It mainly consists
of the evidence given at the Milosevi¢ trial by Lord Owen and General Wesley Clark and also
Lord Owen’s publications. It does not establish a factual basis for finding the Respondent
responsible on a basis of direction or control.

(5) Conclusion as to responsibility for events at Srebrenica under Article I, paragraph (a),
of the Genocide Convention

413. In the light of the information available to it, the Court finds, as indicated above, that it
has not been established that the massacres at Srebrenica were committed by persons or entities
ranking as organs of the Respondent (see paragraph 395 above). It finds also that it has not been
established that those massacres were committed on the instructions, or under the direction of
organs of the Respondent State, nor that the Respondent exercised effective control over the
operations in the course of which those massacres, which, as indicated in paragraph 297 above,
constituted the crime of genocide, were perpetrated. A

The Applicant has not proved that instructions were issued by the federal authorities in
Belgrade, or by any other organ of the FRY, to commit the massacres, still less that any such
instructions were given with the specific intent (dolus specialis) characterizing the crime of
genocide, which would have had to be present in order for the Respondent to be held responsible
on this basis. All indications are to the contrary: that the decision to kill the adult male population
of the Muslim community in Srebrenica was taken by some members of the VRS Main Staff, but
without instructions from or effective control by the FRY.

As for the killings committed by the “Scorpions” paramilitary militias, notably at Trnovo
(paragraph 289 above), even if it were accepted that they were an element of the genocide
committed in the Srebrenica area, which is not clearly established by the decisions thus far
rendered by the ICTY (see, in particular, the Trial Chamber’s decision of 12 April 2006 in the
Stanisi¢ and Simatovi¢ case, IT-03-69), it has not been proved that they took place either on the
instructions or under the control of organs of the FRY.

{4
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414. Finally, the Court observes that none of the situations, other than those referred to in
Articles 4 and 8 of the ILC’s Articles on State Responsibility, in which specific conduct may be
attributed to a State, matches the circumstances of the present case in regard to the possibility of
attributing the genocide at Srebrenica to the Respondent. The Court does not see itself required to
decide at this stage whether the ILC's Articles dealing with attribution, apart from Articles 4 and 8,
€Xpress present customary international law, it being clear that none of them apply in this case.
The acts constituting genocide were not committed by persons or entities which, while not being
organs of the FRY, were empowered by it to exercise elements of the governmental authority
(Art. 5), nor by organs placed at the Respondent’s disposal by another State (Art. 6), nor by persons
in fact exercising elements of the governmental authority in the absence or default of the official
authorities of the Respondent (Art. 9); finally, the Respondent has not acknowledged and adopted
the conduct of the perpetrators of the acts of genocide as its own (Art. 11).

415. The Court concludes from the foregoing that the acts of those who committed genocide
at Srebrenica cannot be attributed to the Respondent under the rules of international law of State
responsibility: thus, the international responsibility of the Respondent is not engaged on this basis.

VIIL The question of responsibility, in respect of Srebrenica, for acts enumerated in
Article III, paragraphs (5) to (e), of the Genocide Convention

416. The Court now comes to the second of the questions set out in paragraph 379 above,
namely, that relating to the Respondent’s possible responsibility on the ground of one of the acts
related to genocide enumerated in Article I1] of the Convention. These are: conspiracy to commit
genocide (Art. I11, para. (b)), direct and public incitement to commit genocide (Art. 111, para. (c)),
attempt to commit genocide (Art. 111, para. (d)) — though no claim is made under this head in the
Applicant’s final submissions in the present case — and complicity in genocide (Art. II, para. (e)).
For the reasons already stated (paragraph 380 above), the Court must make a finding on this matter
inasmuch as it has replied in the negative to the previous question, that of the Respondent’s
responsibility in the commission of the genocide itself.

417. It is clear from an examination of the facts of the case that subparagraphs (b) and (c) of
Article I1I are irrelevant in the present case. It has not been proved that organs of the FRY, or
persons acting on the instructions or under the effective control of that State, committed acts that
could be characterized as “[c]onspiracy to commit genocide”(Art. 111, para. (b)), or as “[d]irect and
public incitement to commit genocide” (Art. 111, para. (c)), if one considers, as is appropriate, only
the events in Srebrenica. As regards paragraph (4), what was said above regarding the attribution
to the Respondent of acts of genocide, namely that the massacres were perpetrated by persons and
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Mr. Prosper Weil, Professor ol the Paris University of Law, Jico-
nomics and Social Scicnces, qs Counsel,

Mrs. Brigitte Stern, Professor of the University of Paris X at Nan-
terre, as Counscl,

Mr. Vincent Coussirat-Coustére, Professor of the University of
Lille 11, as Counsel, .

Mrs. Maric-Reine d'Haussy, Assistant Dircctor, Legal Depart-
ment, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, as Counsel,

Mr. Frangois Alabrunc, Sccretary, Legal Department. Ministry of
Foreign Affairs, as Counscl, :

Mr. Jean-Paul Esquirol, Controller-General of the Army, as
Expert,

Mr. Jean-Paul Algret, Licutenant Colonel, as Expert,

Professor Charles Laverdant, Member of the Academy of Mecdi-
cine, as Expert.
The oral proceedings were recorded in conformity with Article 6 of the
Supplementary Agreement.

Il FINAL suBMissioNs oF THE PARTIES

7. The final submissions of the parties arc as follows:
For New Zealand, in the Memorial:
144.  In conclusion, New Zcaland respectfully requests the Tribunal to grant
the following relief:
(@) A declaration that the French Republic:
(i) breached its obligations to New Zcaland by failing to seck in good faith

the consent of New Zcaland 1o the removal of Major Mafart and Cap-
tain Pricur from the island of Hao:

(ii) breached its obligations to New Zealand by the removal of Major
Mafart and Captain Prieur from the island of Hao;

(iii) is in breach of its obligations to New Zealand by the continuous ab-
sence of Major Mafart and Captain Pricur from the island of Hao;

(iv) is under an obligation 1o rcturn Major Mafart and Captain Pricur
promptly to the island of Hao for the balance of their three ycar periods
in accordance with the conditions of the First Agreement;

(b) An order that the French Republic shall promptly return Major Mafart and
Captain Prieur 10 the island of Hao for the balance of their three year
periods in accordance with the conditions of the First Agrcement.
For France, in the Counter-Memorial:
Conclusion
For all the reasons set out in the foregoing chapters, the Government of the French

Republic respectfully requests that the Arbitral Tribunal reject the requests of New
Zealand.

For New Zealand, in the Reply:
Conclusion

In its Counter-Memorial France has failed to establish any rcason, whether by
reference (0 law or fuct, why New Zealand should not be granted the relicf it sceky.
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Accordingly, New Zealand respectiully mamtans i1s request for i declaration and
an order for apecific performance. as set out in paragraph 144 of 11y Memorial,

For France, in the Rejoinder:
Conclusion
For all the reasons sct out in the foregoing chapters, the Government of the French

Republic once again respectfully requests that the Arbiteal “Tribunal reject the ree
quests of New Zealand.

Oral conclusions:
For New Zcaland:
Mr. President, 1 have made it clear that New Zealand sees no reason 1o make any

modification of its request to th ribunal for a declaration and order as sct out in
paragraph 144 of the New Zealand Mcmonial.

For France:

Its Agent reaflirmed its carlicr **, . . conclusions whosc main thrust is 10 encourage
you to reject the entire New Zealand request™,

IV. THE FacTs
The 1986 Ruling and Agreements

8. On 10 July 1985, a civilian vessel, the Rainbow Warrior, not
flying the New Zealand flag, was sunk at its moorings in Auckland
Harbour. New Zealand, as a result of extensive damage caused by two
high-explosive devices. One person. a Netherlands citizen, Mr. Fer-
nando Pereira, was killed as a result of this action: he drowned when the
ship sank.

9. On 12July 1985, two agents of the French Directorate General
of External Sccurity (D.G.S.E.) were interviewed by the New Zealand
Policc and subscquently arrested and prosccuted. On 4 November 1985,
they pleaded guilty in the District Court in Auckland, New Zcaland, 1o
charges of manslaughter and wilful damage to a ship by mcans of an
cxplosive. On 22 November 1985, the two agents, Alain Mafart and
Dominique Pricur, were sentenced by the Chicf Justice of New Zcaland
to a term of 10 years imprisonment.

10. On 22 September 1985, the Prime Minister of France issued a
communiqué confirming that the Rainbow Warrior had been sunk by
agents of the D.G.S.E. under orders. On the same day, the French
Minister for External Affairs indicated to the Prime Minister of New
Zcaland that France was ready to undertake reparations for the con-
scquences of that action.

I1. Bilateral efforts to resolve the differences that had arisen
subscquently between New Zealand and France were undertaken over a
period of scveral months. In Junc 1986, following an appeal by Prime
Minister Lubbers of the Netherlands, the two Governments formally
approached the Secretary-General of the United Nations and referred to
him all the problems between them arising from the Ruinbow Warrior
alfair for a binding Ruling.
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12. One6 July 1986, the Seeretary-General of the United Nations
issued the following:

Ruling

The issucs that | nced 1o consider are limited in number. | set out below my
ruling on them, which takey account of all the information available tome. My ruling
is as follows:

1. Apology

New Zealand secks an apology. France is prepared 1o give one. My ruling is
that the Prime Minister of France should convey to the Prime Minister of New
Zealand a formal and unqualified apology for the attack, contrary to international

law, on the ‘*Rainbow Warrior™ by French service agents which took place on
10 July 1985.

2. Compensation

New Zealand seeks compensation for the wrong done to it, and France is ready
lo pay some compensation. The two sides, however, arc some distance apart on
quantum. New Zealand has said that the figure should not be less than US Dollary
9 million, France that it should not be more than US Dollars 4 million. My ruling is
that the French Government should pay the sum of US Dollars 7 million (o the
Government of New Zealand as compcensation for all the damage it has suflered.

3. The two French service agents

1t is on this issue that the two Governments plainly had the greatest difficulty in
‘their attempts to negotiate a solution o the whole issue on u biluteral basiy before
they took the decision to refer the mutter 1o me. #
The French Government sceks the immediate ref
underlines that their imprisonment in New Zealan

for the prisoners serving their sentences

But it has been, und remains, essential to the New Zealand position that there
should be no release 1o freedom, that any transfer should be to cusiody, and that
there should be a means of verifying that.

The French response to that is that there is no basis either in intermational law
orin French law on which the two could serve out any portion of their New Zealund
sentence in France, and that they could not be subjected 10 new criminal pro-
ceedings after a transfer into French hands.

On this point, if I am to fulfil my mandate adequately, I must find o solution in
respect of the two officers which both respects and reconciles these conflicting
positions.

My ruling is as follows:

(@) The Government of New Zeiland should transfer Major Alain Mafart und
Captain Dominique Prieur to the French military authoritics, Immediately there-
after, Major Mafart and Captain Pricur should be transferred 1o a French military
facility on an isolated island outside of Europe for a period of three years,

(b) They should be prohibited from leaving the islund for any reason, cacept
with the mutual consent of the 1wo Governments. They should be isolited during
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their assignment on the island from persony other than military or associated person-
nel and immediate family and fricnds. They should be prohibited from any contact

ments, by an agreed third party.

() 1 have sought information on French military facilities outside Europe. On
the basis of that information, I belicve that the transfer of Major Mafart and Captain
Prieur 10 the French military facility on the isolated island of Hao in French Poly-
nesia would best facilitate the enforcement of the conditions which | have Jaid down
in paragraphs (a) to (d) above, My ruling is that this should be their destination
immcdinlcly after their transfer,

4. Trade issues

The New Zealand Government has taken the position that trade issues have
been imported into the affair as a result of French action, either taken or in prospect,
The French Government denies that, but it has indicated that it is willing to give
sume undertakings relating 1o trade, as sought by the New Zecaland Government,
I therefore rule that France should: |

(a) Not oppose continuing 'mports of New Zealund butter into the Unijted
Kingdom in 1987 and 1988 at levels proposcd by the Commission of the European
Communitics insofar as these do not cxceed those mentioned in document COM (R3)
574 of 6 October 1983, that is 1o say, 77.000 tonnes in 1987 and 75.000 tonnes in 1988;
and

(5) Not take measures that might impair the implementation of the Agreement
between New Zealand and the Europcun Economic Cnmmunily on Trade in Mut-
ton. Lamb and Goatmeat which cntered into force on 20 October 1980 (as com.
plemented by the Exchunge of Letters of 12 July 1984),

5. Arbitration

The New Zcaland Government has argued that a mechanism should exist to
cnsure that any differences that may arisc about the implementation of the agree-
ments concluded as a result of my ruling can be referred for binding decision to an
arbitral tribunal. The Government of France is not averse to that, My ruling is that
4n agreement to that effect should be concluded and provide that any dispute con-
cerning the interpretation or application of the other agreements, which it has not
been possible 1o resolve through the diplomatic channel, shall, at the request of
cither of the two Governments, be submilted 1o an arbitral tribunal. (The ruling then
madce the specific proposals for arbitration which were later incorporated in the
Agreement set out in para. | of this Award.)

ng relating to an apology. the pPayment
of compensation and the transfer of Major Mufart and Captain Pricur should be
implemented at the latest on 25 July 1986,

7. On one matter I find no need to make a ruling. New Zealand, in its written
statement of position, has expresscd concern regarding compensation for the family
of the individual whose life was lost in the incident and for Greenpeace. The French
stalement of position contains an account of the compensation arrangements that

=
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have been made; | understand that those assurances constitute the response that
New Zealand was sceking™,

13.  Inaccordance with paragraph 6 of the Ruling, the French and
New Zealand Governments concluded in Paris, on 9 July 1986, by
Exchanges of Letters. three Agreements which incorporated the provi-
sions of the Ruling. The first of these Agreements, which rclates to the
situation of the two French officers, runs as follows:

On l?_]une 198_6. wishing 10 maintain the close and fricndly relations which
have traditionally existed between New Zealand and France, our two Governments

island of Hao for a period of not less than three years.

They will be prohibited from leaving the island for any reason, except with the
mutual consent of the two Governments. They will be isolated, during their assign-
ment in Hao, from persons other than military or associated personnel and im-
mediate family and friends. They will be prohibited from any conltact with the press
or other media, whether in person. in writing or in any other manncr. These condi-
tions will be_sln'cuy complied with and appropriate action will be taken under the
rules governing military discipline to enforce them.

The French Government will cvery threc months convey to the New Zealand
Gov.emmenl and 1o the Sccretary-General of the United Nations, through diplo-
malic channels, full reports on the sj ation of Major Mafart and Captain Pricur in
terms of the two preceding paragraphs in order 10 allow the New land Govern-
ment (o be sure that these paragraphs are being implemented as agreed.

If the New Zcaland Government so requests, a visit to the fucility on Hao may
be made, by mutual agreement between the two Governments, by an agreed third
party.

The undertakings relating to an apology, the payment of compensation and (he
transfer of Major Mafart and Cuptain Pricur will be implemented not later than
25 July 1986.

14. In accordance with the Ruling and the First Agreement, offi-
cers Mafan.a_nd Prieur were transferred from New Zcaland to a French
mtlglary facility on the island of Hao on 23 July 1986, and the other
obligations undertaken in para. 2 of the Agrecment were implemented.

The Case of Major Mafart

15. On 7 December 1987 the French Ministry of Defence was
advised by thc commander of the Hao military basc that the condition

;
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of Major Mafart's hcalth required examinations and immediate care,
which could not be carried out locally. The Minister of Defence then
decided to send a medical tcam to the site. This team was led by a
principal Army doctor, Dr. Maurel, from the Val-de-Grace Hospital in
Panis.

16.  On 10 December 1987 (Hao date), Dr. Maurel scnt the Minis-
try of Defence a message, received in Paris on Friday 11 December,
stating that Major Mafart **poscs the ctiological and therapeutic prob-
lem of stabbing abdominal painsin a paticnt with a history of similar. and
still unlabeled, problems. The results of today’s examination indicate
the need . for explorations in a highly specialized cnvironment. His
conditionjustifics an cmergency return to a hospital in mainland FFrance.
Abscnt any formal notice from you to the contrary, I proposc that this
cvacuation take place by the Sunday 13 December 1987 aircraft'.

17.. On 11 Dececmber 1987, a Friday, the Minister of Defence
conveyed Dr. Maurel's message to the Minister of Foreign Affairs,
adding that he planned to procced with officer Mafart's health-related
repatriation. He also asked the Minister of Forcign Affairs to **contact
the New Zealand Government through the procedures stipulated in the
agreement signed with that Government'”.

18. On 1l Deccmber 1987, at 6.59 p.m. (Paris time; it was
6.59 a.m. on Saturday 12 Dccember in Wellington) the Minister of
Forcign Affairs sent the French Ambassador in Wellington a tclegram
asking him to immecdiately give the New Zealand authoritics a verbal
notc containing all the information that the French Government had just
reccived (Dr. Maurel's medical opinion was attached to this notc). The
French Government, referring to the 1986 Agrcement, asked *‘the New
Zcaland Government to consent to Major Mafart's urgent health-related
transfer (o a hospital in mainland France'.

The French Ambassador was instructed 1o stress the fact that the
only mcans of transport immediatcly available between Hao and Paris
was the military aircraft leaving Hao Sunday morning. The Ambassador
was asked to add that *‘the statc of Major Mafart's hcalth absolutcly
required that he be cxamined without delay in a highly specialized
medical facility which cxists ncither in Hao nor in Papcete™,

19. On 12 December 1987, between 10 a.m. and 11 a.m. (Wclling-
ton time) the French Ambassador contacted a senior official of the New
Zealand Ministry of Foreign Affairs, communicating the above mes-
sage. '

20.  About 4 hours later, between 2.00 and 3.00 on the afternoon of
Saturday, 12 December 1987, the New Zcaland Government answered
the preceding communication by note verbale which stated that “‘in
order to cnable the request to be examined with the carcitdeserves, the
New Zealand Government will requirc a New Zealand asscssment (o
be made of Major Mafart's medical condition. Accordingly, urgent
arrangements arc now being made for a suitably qualified New Zcaland
military doctor to fly on a New Zealand military aircraft to Hao for this
purpose™’. The note added that **the Ministry sccks urgent confirmation
that the French authoritics will give the necessary clearance for a
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military flight to Hao for this purposc. Details of the proposed flight will
be given to the Embassy as soon as possible™’. i

In transmitting the preceding note verbale to his Government the
French Ambassador added that the New Zcaland Senior official who
handed him the note inquired whether the departure date scheduled for
Major Mafart’s evacuation, that s, 13 December at 4.00 a.m., was in fact
the Hao date. If so, this would correspond to the New Zealand date of
Monday 14 December.

21. On 12 December 1987 the French Ambassador in Wellington
advised the French Ministry of Forcign Affairs that he was given the
following information relating to the projected visit to Hao of a New
Zealand military doctor.arriving by Air Force plane:

Type of aircraft P3 ORION

Registration Ncw Zealand 6204

Flight number N.P. 0999

Pilot Licutenant B. R. Clark
Crew 12 members

Passengers 1 doctor and | interpreter

Depart Auckland Sunday 13 December 7.00 a.m.

(New Zcaland date and time)

Arrive Hao Saturday 12 December 4.00 p.m.
(French Polynesia date and time)
Call sign Kiwi 999

Facilities requested  Fuel 35,000 pounds Avtur.

22. On 12 December 1987 at 5.11 p.m. (Paris time), equivalent to
S.11 a.m. on 13 December 1987 (Wellington time), the Ministry of
Foreign Affairs sent by telegram to the French Ambassador in Welling-
ton the response to be delivered to the New Zealand authorities. Duc to
the time shift, this response was received in Wellington carly on Sunday
morning 13 December 1987, some sixteen hours after the New Zealand
proposal in para. 20 above.

The French authoritics indicated that, to their great regret, they were
unable to

authorize a New Zealand aircraft to make a stop on the Hao military base. Indecd,
for imperative reasons of national sccurily, access 1o this base is strictly regulated
and is prohibited to foreign aircraft. This is the reason why Major Mafart and Major
Pricur were transported 1o the Hao base in July 1986 by a French military aircraft,
which had come 1o pick them up at the Wallis airport, to which they had been
transported from New Zealand by a New Zealand military planc.

The French authorities added that **the French Government agrees
to allow Major Mafart to be examincd, as soon he arrives in mainland
France, by a physician designated by New Zealand. If applicable, it
would be willing to consider covering the cost of sending a New Zealand
physician to France, if this solution was preferred by the New Zealand
Government'.

23. On 13 December, the French Ambassador advised that the
New Zealand Prime Minister could not accept the French proposal
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but advanccd new proposals, taking into account the impossibility of
landing at Hao. According to thc New Zcaland Memorial, the New
Zcaland Government put forward two alternatives: that a New Zealand
medical doctor be flown to Papecte, Tahiti, by a New Zealand military
aircraft, and then onward to Hao by French military aircraft; or. if
France preferred, that the New Zealand medical doctor be flown to
Papeete by a commercial flight and then onward to Hao by French
military aircraft.

The French Ambassador in Wellington advised his Government
somcwhat differcntly: **Mr. Lange proposes the following: New Zca-
land dispatches a military doctor to Papeete as soon as possible by
commercial airline. The French party undertakes to transport him to
Hao so that he can perform his medical assignment there. After being
brought back to Papecte, he returns to New Zcaland to submit his
conclusions to the New Zealand authorities''.

24. On 14 December (Wellington time), the French Ambassador

sent the following note to the New Zealand Ministry of Foreign Affairs:

A—The New Zealand request 10 have Major Mafart examined by a New Zea-
lund physician who would go to Hao, via Papecte, then return to Auckland to report
to his Government, who would then make their decision known, would delay the
French officer’s health-related transfer o mainland France by an cxcessive period
of time that could be as long as several days, given the available transport opportu-
nitics. The French authorities feel that this additional delay is absolutely incompati-
ble with the urgency, stressed by the doctor who examined Major Mafan, of trans-
porting the Major to a highly specialized medical facility in mainland France.

B—In carrying out their duty 1o protect the health of their agents, the French
authorities, in this case of force majeure, are forced to proceed, without any further
dclay, with the French officer’s health-related repatriation. Major Mafart will leave
Hao on Sunday 13 December at 2.00 (local time) on board a military plane that will
arrive in Paris on Monday 14 December at about 10.00 (local time) after a technical
stop in Pointe--Pitre.

C—The French authorities reiterate that they are willing to allow Major Mafart
to be examined by a physician chosen by New Zealand, as soon as he arrives in
Paris, and that they are even willing to cover the cost of sending a physician from
New Zcaland for this purpose, if this solution is preferred by the New Zealand
Government.

D—AIl measures have been taken to insure the confidentiality of the entire

operation and to see to it that it remains secret, in any event until Major Mafart can .

be cxamined in mainland France by the physician designated by the New Zealand

authorities™.

25. On 14 December 1987 at 9.30 (Paris time), Officer Mafart
arrived in Paris. He was taken to the Val-de-Grace Hospital where he
was cxamined and treated by Professor Daly, head of the Val-de-Grace
medical clinic, a professor of medicinc and a specialist in gastrocn-
terology.

26. A note delivered on 14 December 1987 from the New Zealand
Embassy to the French Ministry of Foreign Affairs stated:

New Zealand views with considerable concern, and wishes to record its seriouy
objection to the unilateral action taken, in the absence of New Zcalund consent, to
transfer Major Alain Mafart to Frunce on Sunday 13 December 1987,

$e
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lsilcp. New L.c:nl;md hu.\._ beciu; : o the humanitarian characteristics of the sHua-
jo‘l""r;{i{Tr?.c“md fully with the French programme of medical cxamination of Ma-

However, the extended nature of these medical examinations has been i matter
of concern lo the New anlund Government and, according to the medical ‘n:p:)rh
also to Malor Mafart himself. Dr. Croxson's reports indicale that they have been
unnccessaply ex(em?cd -« . Dr. Croxson's advice, supported by Dr. Mallinson. is
that there is no m.cfllcnl reason for MijoF-Mafart's return to Huo to be any lv'um.)cr
dela_ycd. The position of the Ministry . . . that Major Mafart is unfit for military
service overseas is noted. But in New Zealand's view that is not relevant to the
question of compliance with France's obligations to New Zealand under the Agred
ment. Thc issue is whether compliance should now be restored. Dr. mef«mi
advice is uncqunrocul. Major Mafart iy medically fit to return to Hao. ‘I'iu: nalure n-l'
the assignment, if uny, given to him in that place is not an issuce. )

. _44. On 21 July 1988 Dr. Croxson 5 a final r Y d
PRy iy L presented a final report on Ma-

No change in quor.Mararl‘s condition si inati
4 8 since last examination. 25 January 1988,
Nq major ep'lsnfics_ol' severe abdominal pain, abdominal distension and m))'m: re-
quiring hospitalization or special investig

12 February 1988 i i 3 i i 3
Lt ol‘stcrvar;omnnsl‘" and indeed arc strengthencd by this further period of five

45. According to the French Counter-Memorial Alai afi
yho was evacuated in December 1987 for health reasons. w‘ul:‘ dﬁi‘ll{‘;gl
repatriated for hcalth reasons™ on 11 March 1988. Aftera icmporury
assignment at the Head Office of the Nuclear Experimentation Center
he was assigned on | September 1988 10 the War College in Paris aﬂcr‘
passing the entrance examination, for which he had taken the w'riucn

part in Hao and the oral part in Paris. On | (o]
< clober 19 H
promoted to the rank of Licutenant Colonel. kst ol

Mr. Bos’ Visit 1o Hao

. 46. On 28 March 1988 an agreed third part ands offi
ﬁ:lal,::sl_gnalcd by the two Governments for ‘l)he gu?poNsc::l,hs:-\l;‘lrc‘:?lslfl):g
h l; . A'laan Bos sybmm.cd on S April 1988 a report indicating that he

aT ad an interview with Captain Dominique Pricur, and that her
mlcl;_ary func.mfn on Hao is that of officicr conseil and officier adjoint. In
; ormer capacity she performs certain social functions, whilc in the
atter she c_:lcpunlcs for the Commander of the base in carrying out
certain dutics. A few months after arrival on Hao, on 22 July I‘)R(L I
was joined by her husband, who is also an ofﬁcc'r B e

Mr. Bos advised that **there arc a roximale, ' | ‘
Tour's‘ ofdu_lypn Hao are normally Iimﬁgd toonc ;Zalgmf\cﬁcﬁoinl:l{(}?d
that Domlmqqc_ Pricur and her husband have access lo 'lhc An-ormil
recreational facilities at the basc. As regards contact with her rumil;

iniquc Prieur 1 al her mother VIS an c
'om| u T sa th ha S cr twice d
D P, d that h d visited h

The Case of Captain Pricur

47. The French Counter-Memorial states
The 0 M al states that on 3 May 1988, the
French Ministry of Forcign Affairs received a medical rcporlyindiculinu

ation. My conclusions of my report of -

1
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that Dominique Pricur was 6 wecks pregnant. The report stated that
this pregnancy should be treated with special care for several reasons:
Mrs. Pricur was almost 39 years old; her gynccological history; the fact
that this would be her first child. It also indicated that the medical
facilities existing on Hao werc unable to provide the necessary medical
cxaminations and the carc required by Mrs. Pricur’s condition.

48. On the samce day, 3 May 1988, the New Zcaland Ambassador
in Paris was advised of the above information and answered that she
would inform her Government. The New Zealand Ambassador noted
that she **agrees that the medical facilities existing on Hao are clearly
inappropriate, but it was her understanding that Papecte did have all the
relevant necessary equipment”.

49. Thc next day, 4 May 1988, thc New Zealand Government
answered the French Ministry of Foreign Affairs, stating:

Whilc New Zealand's consent is required in terms of the 1986 Agreement, this is
not a case where, il the medical situation justifics it, consent would be unrcasonably
withheld.

The New Zcaland Government would like, on the basis of medical consultation,
to determine the nature of any special treatment that Captain Prieur might need and
the place where the necessary tests and on-going treatment could be carried out if
the facilitics at Hao are not adequalc.,

As a first step to coming to an agrcement on this basis, the New Zealand
authoritics are making arrangements for a New Zealand military doctor with the
requisite qualifications to fly on the first available flight to Papecte for onward flight
to Hao.

The answer added that Dr. Brenner, a civilian consultant to the
Royal New Zealand Navy. qualificd in obstetrics and gynecology. was
standing by to travel to Papecte on that day, 4 May.

50. The French Ministry of Foreign Affairs, on the same day,
4 May, “‘agreed o the dispatching of Dr. Bernard Brenner to Hao as
soon as possible’’, adding that **this solution was suitable to us and that
all the arrangements would be madc for the New Zcaland doctor’s trip to
Papecte and his transfer to Hao. definitely on the morning of 5 May™.

51. On5 May 1988, the New Zcaland Ministry of Forcign Affairs
informed the French Ambassador to New Zealand “"that, duc to the
continuing UTA strike, Dr. Brenner and his interpreter are forced to
delay their arrival in Papecte, which they will reach by Air New Zca-
land. Lcaving Auckland on Friday, 6 May at 8.40 p.m., they will arrive
in Papcete the same day at 3.25 a.m. (Papccte time). If extreme urgency
50 requires, a conncction to Papccte by military planc could be envis-
aged™.

52. On 5 May 1988 at 11.00 a.m. (French time), the New Zcaland
Ambassador in Paris was told that the French Government had been
informed of a “*new development™, namely, that Dominique Pricur’s
father, hospitalized for trcatment of a cancer, was dying. The French
Government informed the Ambassador that **for obvious humanitarian
rcasons’’ Dominique Pricur had to sec her father before his death. It
was proposed ‘‘bearing in mind the previous conversations regarding
Mrs. Pricur's pregnancy' that cither Dr. Brenner, the New Zealand
doctor. lcave Auckland within three or four hours on a special flight
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mitted to an arbitral tribunal.
V. Discussion
The Contentions of the Parties

62. New Zcaland contends that France has commi i
rate breaches of the international obligations it :lssumcr:‘l1 Il::\‘iidc:lélflzl::s
3 1o 7 of the First Agreement of 9 July 1986, three in respect of cach
agcnl.'ch‘v Zealand submits that, taken chronologically, these breaches
of obligations were: first, France's failure to seck in good faith its

63. With respect to the first breach, New Zealand maintains that

New Zealand alicges that when Mayj itali

\ 2 ajor Mafart was hospitalized
Hao in July 1957 its Government was not informed lhalpu mcdic:ﬂ
problem had arisen, nor was it advised in December that a medical

necessity for an air journcy in excess of 20 hour i i
¢ « S s (o Paris, as against a
ﬂlgh;qofa hzlllc more than an hour to the cxcellent facilitics En Pﬁ;‘)ccxc
ew Zealand further states that jts 52 i iaie
1 tand fur S proposal for an immediate
‘rjr};filc:lll_cxamlnnhon in Hao by a New Zcaland doctor encountered
f: lCrI:X ties anq pbslru_cllons such as the invoked absolute impossibility
:r aforeign mlhlur_y aircraft to land at Hao. It lays stress on the fact that
lUc_allcgcd impossibility Wwas not absolute, as shown by the fact that a
m:;]llchds ?(:{écs_mlllrl,lury alrc;afl had landed there previously, and, six
ater, in the case of Captain Pric issi landing i
o p ur, permission for landing in
New Zealand also submits thatin th j
\ ! ' ¢ casc of Major Mafart reason-
(:;ble time was nol given, in fact less than 48 hours, to rcach :1;1 informed
Zec:[snon' and in lhc_ case of Cuplain Pricur France failed to scck New
ealand’s consent in good faith, for consent was never, in facl. sought
_(;‘n either the grounds o(.hcy pregnancy or on the grounds of her father's
|r ness. It states that while it was preparing to examinc the alleged need
or special treatment of the pregnancy and where it might be carried out
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Jjust three days before Presidential clections in France, the New Zcaland
Government was told that the terminal illness of Captain Pricur's father
required her immediate removal.

64. The sccond set of breaches which New Zealand asserts is the
removal of the two agents from Hao without New Zealand consent. New
Zcaland points out that France has acknowledged in these proccedings
thatit removed the two agents without New Zealand's consent; thus. the
French Republic has admitted a prima fucie breach and the only qucs-
tion is whether it can legally justify that breach.

Necw Zcaland contends that the mutual consent provision allows the
departurc from Hao when and only when both Governments were
agreed that circumstances justified that departure. It also considers that
in making such decisions both Governments arc obliged to act in good
faith. The provision reads that the two agents **will be prohibited from
lcaving the island for any rcason, except with the mutual consent of
the two Governments''. The words **for any reason’ and the words
“except with mutual consent™, in New Zealand's view, cannol be
dismisscd as superfluous but have a function and a mcaning, cxpressly
cxcluding any unilateral right 1o remove cither agent. Any removal, for
any rcason, it argues, requircd the consent of New Zealand; morcover,
the word **prohibited™ emphasized the strictness of the regime estab-
lished and the complete unacceptability of any exceptions to it.

65. Thc third set of breaches, according to New Zcaland, consists
in France's failure to rcturn the agents: in the case of Major Mafart,
Francc invokes, inter alia, French military law to excuse the continuous
breach of the obligation to return him to Hao, alleging that he iis not fit for
military service overscas. However, New Zcaland observes that Major
Mafart is fit enough to attend the War College, and points out that it is
not asking that he go overscas in active service or fight a war: a cer-
tificate by a French medical doctor that in terms of French military law

Major Mafart is unfit for service overseas has no bearing on the question
whether he should be in Hao. Anyway, it adds, Major Mafart can be
placed under any necessary medical supervision in Hao and good medi-
cal support facilitics cxist ncarby in Tahiti.

Recalling Article 27 of the Vienna Convention on the Law of
Treatics, New Zealand asserts that it is not open lo France nor to any

other Statc to invoke the provisions of its own intcrnal law as a justifica- -

tion for non-performance of its treaty obligations.

As to Captain Pricur, removed from Hao becausc of the illncss of
her father, France has stated that after his death, she was placed on
maternity Icave pursuant to the French military code and therefore
could not be sent back to Hao as long as her pregnancy continued:
subsequent to the birth, France has asserted that she can not be sent
back with a baby.

New Zealand finds that thesc reasons fail to justify the continuous
breach resulting from the fact that Captain Pricur has not been sent back
to Hao.

It points out that whether Captain Pricur wishes to take the child to
Hao is irrelevant; there arc many children on the island, which has a

§¢
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R_cpul_)hc adds, that Mrs. Pricur's father was dying, which gave the
Sttuation a dramatic urgency becausc it was nccessary. for obvious
hymamlum_m reasons, that Mrs. Pricur see her father again before he
dlcd.‘To bring about this last mccting, the French authoritics propuscd
certain solutions. onc of which was that Dr. Breaner be transported
directly to Hao by a New Zealund military aircraft. But information was
received from New Zcaland 1o the cffect that a New Zealand military
alrcmf_l could not take off until the morning of 6 May. The FFrench
authorities replied that, inasmuch as this aircraft would go dircetly to
Hao, its departure from Auckland could be delayed until Thursday
mormning at 7.30, Wellington time. After that deadline, Dominique Pricur
would risk arriving too late 1o sce her father alive. The New Zcaland
au.l_honuc:s then indicated that it was impossiblc to get a New Zealand
military aircraft ready within the stated time.

On 5 May, one !mur after the response from the New Zcaland
Governm_enl was received, the French Government informed New Zca-
land that it considered it impossible to keep Mrs. Pricur on Hao while

her father was dying in Paris and that she was departing immediatcly for
France.

70. As regards Captain Pricur's stay in mainland France, the
French Republic maintains that, having returned to France to be present
for her father's last moments, she was obliged to remain there through-
out her pregnancy. and after the birth of her child on 15 Deccember 1988,
o'bVIous'humamlarian considerations prevented her being returned
either with or without her child.

71. In summary, it results from the foregoing that New Zcaland
contends that the removal of the two agents from the island of Hao
vyllhout Its consent, the circumstances of those removals and the con-
tinued failure of France to return them to Hao arc breaches of the
international obligations contained in the First Agrecment.

The‘F.rench Government, on its part, does not contest the fact that
the provisions of the Agreement have not been literally honored, since
the two officers' return to mainland France was not preceded by New
Zealand's formal agrecment, and they did not remain on the island of
Hao for the lhrcc-y.car period that had been agreed. It belicves neverthe-
Icsg that because circumstances of extreme urgency werc involved, its
actions do not constitute internationally wrongful acts.

The Applicable Law

72. The first question that the Tribunal must determine is the law
applicable to the conduct of the Parties.

According to Article 2 of the Supplementary Agreement of 14 Feb-
ruary 1989:

The decisions of the Tribunal shall be taken on the basis of the Agrecments
concluded belwl'ctn the Government of New Zcaland and the Government of the
Frcn_ch Republic by Exchange of Letiers of 9 July 1986, this Agreement and the
applicable rules and principles of international law.

e e o A+

This provision refers to two sources of international law: the con-
ventional source, represented by certain bilateral agreements concluded
between the Partics, and the customary source, constituled by the
**applicable rules and principles of international law™

The customary source, in turn, comprises two important branches
of gencral international law: the Law of Treatics. codificd in the 1969
Vicnna Convention, and the Law of State Responsibility, in process of
codification by the Intcrnational Law Commission.

The Parties disagrec on the question of which of these two branches
should be given primacy or emphasis in the determination of the primary
obligations of France.

While New Zcaland emphasizes the terms of the 1986 Agreement
and rclated aspects of the Law of Treaties, France relics much morc on
the Law of State Responsibility. So far as remedies are concerned both
arc in broad agreement that the main law applicablc is the Law of State
Responsibility.

73. In this respect, New Zealand contests three French legal
propositions which it describes as bad law. The first one is that the
Treaty of 9 July 1986 must be read subject to the customary Law of State
Responsibility; thus Francc is trying to shift the question at issuc out of
the Law of Treaties, as codified in the Vienna Convention of 1969.

New Zealand contends that the question at issue must be decided in
accordance with the Law of Treatics, because the treaty governs and the
reference to customary international law may be made only if there were
a need (1) to clarify some ambiguity in the treaty, (2) to fill an cvident
gap, or (3) to invalidatc a treaty provision by reference to a rule of jus
cogens in customary international law. But, it adds, there is otherwisc
no basis upon which a clear treaty obligation can be altered by reference
to customary international law.

A second French proposition contested by New Zcaland is that
Article 2 of the Supplementary Agrecment of 14 February 1989 refers to
the rules and principles of international law and thus, France argucs,
requires the Tribunal to refer to the Law of International Responsibility.
New Zcaland contends that Article 2 makes clear that the Tribunal is 1o
decide in accordance with the Agreements, so the Treaty of 9 July 1986
governs and, conscquently, customary international law applics only to
theextent itis applicable as a source supplementary to the Treaty; not to
change the treaty obligation but only to resolve an ambiguity in the
trcaty language or to fill some gap, which docs not exist since the textis
crystal clear. Thus, Ncw Zealand takes the position that the Law of
Treatics is the law relevant to this case.

Finally, Ncw Zcaland contests a third French proposition by which
France relies upon the gencral concept of circumstances cxcluding
illcgality, as derived from the work of the International Law Commis-
sion on Statc Responsibility. contending that those circumstances arise
in this case because there were determining factors beyond France's
control, such as humanitarian rcasons of extreme urgency making the
action necessary. New Zealand asserts that a State party toa treaty, and
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secking to excusc its own non-performance, is not entitled to sct aside
the specific grounds for termination or suspension of a treaty, cnu-
merated in the 1969 Vienna Convention, and rely instcad on grounds
relevant to general State responsibility. New Zcaland adduccs that it is
not a credible proposition to admit that the Vienna Convention identifics
and defines a number of lawful excuses for non-performance—such as
supervening impossibility of performance; a fundamental change of
circumstances; thc emergence of a new rule of jus cogens—and yct
conlend that there may be other cxcuses, such as force majeure or
distress, derived from the customary Law of State Responsibility. Con-
sequently, New Zcaland asserts that the excuse of force majeure, in-
voked by France, does not conform to the grounds for termination or
suspension recognized by the Law of Trcatics in Article 61 of the Vicnna
Convention, which requires absolute impossibility of performing the
treaty as the grounds for terminating or withdrawing from it.

74. France, for its part, points out that New Zcaland's request
calls into question France's international responsibility towards New
Zcaland and that everything in this request is characteristic of a suit for
responsibility; thereforc, it is entirely natural to apply thc Law of Re-
sponsibility. The French Republic maintains that the Law of Treaties
does not govern the breach of treaty obligations and that the rulcs
concerning the consequences of a **breach of treaty"* should be sought
notin the Law of Treaties, but exclusively in the Law of Responsibility.
France further states that within the Law of International Respon-
sibility, **breach of treaty"” does not enjoy any special status and that the
breach of a treaty obligation falls under exactly the same legal regime as
the violation of any other international obligation. In this conncction,
France points out that the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treatics is
constantly at pains to exclude or reserve questions of responsibility, and
that the sole provision concerning the consequences of the breach of a
treaty is that of Article 60, entitled **Termination of a treaty or suspen-
sion of its application as a result of breach', but the provisions of this

' Article are not applicable in this instance. But even in this case, the

French Republic adds, the State that is the victim of the breach is not
deprived of its right to claim rcparation under the general Law of
Responsibility. France points out, furthermore, that the origin of an
obligation in breach has no impact either on the international wrongful-
ness of an act nor on the regime of international responsibility applicable
to such an act: this approach is explained in Article 17 of the draft of the
International Law Commission on State Responsibility.

In particular, the French Republic adds, citing the report of the
International Law Commission, the reasons which may be invoked to
Jjustify the non-execution of a treaty are a part of the gencral subject
matter of the international responsibility of States.

The French Republic does admit, in this connection, that it is the
Law of Treaties that makes it possible to determine the content and
scope of the obligations assumed by France, but, even supposing that
France had breached certain of these obligations, this breach would not

entail any repercussion stemming from the Law of Treatics. On the
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contrary, it is exclusively within the framework of the Law on Inter-
national Responsibility that the effects of a possible breach by France of
its trcaly obligations must be determined and it is within the context of
the Law of Responsibility that the reasons and justificatory facts ad-
duced by France must be assessed. Consequently, the French Republic
further statcs, it is up to the Tribunal to decide whether the circum-
stances under which France was led to take the contested dccisions arc of
such a nature as to cxoneratce it of responsibility, and this assessment
must be made within the context of the Law of Responsibility and not
solely in the light of Article 61 of the 1969 Vienna Convention.

75. The answer to the issuc discussed in the two preceding para-
graphs is that, for the decision of the present case, both the customary
Law of Treaties and the customary Law of State Responsibility arc
relevant and applicable.

The customary Law of Treatics, as codified in the Vienna Conven-
tion, proclaimed in Articlc 26, undcr the title **Pacta sunt servanda™
that

Every treaty in force is binding upon the parties to it and must be performed by
them in good faith.

This fundamental provision is applicable to the dctermination
whether there have been violations of that principle, and in particular,
whether material breaches of treaty obligations have been committed.

Morcover, certain specific provisions of customary law in the
Vicnna Convention are relevant in this case, such as Article 60, which
gives a precise definition of the concept of a material breach of a treaty,
and Article 70, which deals with the legal consequences of the expiry of a
treaty.

On the other hand, the legal consequences of a breach of a treaty,
including the determination of the circumstances that may exclude
wrongfulness (and render the breach only apparent) and the appropriate
remcdics for breach, arc subjects that belong to the customary Law of
State Responsibility.

The reason is that the gencral principles of International Law con-
cerning State responsibility are cqually applicable in the casc of breach
of treaty obligation, since in the international law field there is no
distinction between contractual and tortious responsibility, so that any
violalion by a State of any obligation, of whatever origin, gives risc to
State responsibility and consequently, to the duty of rcparation. The
particular treaty itself might of course limit or extend the gencral Law of
State Responsibility, for instance by establishing a system of remedics
for it.

The Permancnt Court proclaimed this fundamental principle in the
Chorzow Factory (Jurisdiction) case, stating:

It is a principle of international law that the breach of an engagement involves
an obligation to make reparation in an adcquate form. Reparation, therefore, is the

indispensable complement of a failure to apply a convention (P.C.1.J., Scries A.
Nos. 9, 21 (1927)).
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And the present Court has said:

- _l( is clear that refusal to fulfill a treaty obligation involves international respon-
sibility (Peace Treatics (sccond phasc) 1950, ICJ Reporis, 221, 228).

The conclusion to be reached on this issuc is that, without prejudice
to the terms of the agreement which the Parties signed and the appli-
cability of certain important provisions of the Vienna Convention on the
Law of Treaties, the existence in this casc of circumstances excluding
wrongfulness: as well as the questions of appropriate remcdics, should
be answered in the context and in the light of the customary Law of State
Responsibility.

Circumstances Precluding Wrongfulness

76. Updcr the title **Circumstances Precluding Wrongfulness™
the lnlcr{mugnal Law Commission proposcd in Articles 29 10 35 a sct of
rules which includc three provisions, on force majeure and fortuitous
event (Aru;le 31), distress {Article 32), and state of necessity (Arti-
cle 33), which may be relevant to the decision on this casc.

As 1o force majeure, it was invoked in the French note of 14 Dc-
cember 1987,.»yherc. referring to the removal of Major Mafart, the
French authorities stated that **in this case of force majeure*’ (cmphasis
added). l.hcy *‘are compelled to proceed without further dclay with the
repatriation of the French officer for health reasons"".

pis In th; oral proceedings, counsel for France declared that France

did not |n.vokc force majeure as far as the Law of Responsibility is
concerned". However, the Agent for France was not so categorical in
excluding for"ce majeure, because he stated: It is substantivcly in-
correct to claim that France has invoked force majeure cxclusively. Our
written submissions indisputably show that we have referred to the
\gvai;.c:lyenlheory of special circumstances that exclude or ‘attenuate” ille-

ity™',

Conscquently, the invocation of “force majeure’ has not been
totally excluded. It is thereforc necessary to consider whether it is
applicable to the present casc.

77. Article 31 (1) of the 1LC draft reads:

. Th'c wrongfulness of an act of a State not in conformity with an international
obligation of that State is precluded if the act was due to an irresistible force ortoan
unforeseen extemal event beyond its control which made it materially impossible for
}he State to actin conformity with that obligation or to know that its conduct wis not
in conformity with that obligation.

In lh.c thh_l of this provision, therc are several reasons for cxcluding the
applicability of the excuse of force majeure in this casc. As pointed out
in the report of the International Law Commission. Article 31 refers to

a situation fa;mg the subject taking the action, which leads it, as it
were, despite nl.rclj.'. to act in a manner not in conformity with the
requirements of an international obligation incumbent on it** (Ybk.ILC,
.1.979. vol. 11, para. 2, p. 122, emphasis in the original). Force majeure is

gcr:?rz_xlly invoked loiuslify involuntary, or at lcast unintentional con-
duct™, it refers **to an irresistiblc force or an unforesecn external cvent
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against which it has no remedy and which makes it ‘materially IMpossi-
blc’ for it to act in conformity with the obligation'”, sincc *‘no person is
required to do the impossible™ (7hid.. p. 123, para. 4).
The report of the International Law Commission insists on the strict
mcaning of Article 31, in the following terms:

the wording of paragraph | cmphasizes, by the use of the adjective *irresistible™
qualifying the word **force™, that there must, in the case in point, be a constraint
which the State was unable 1o avoid or 10 opposc by its own means . . . The cvent
must be an act which occurs and produces its cffect without the State being able 1o
do anything which might rcctify the cvent or might avert its consequences. The
adverb “*materially’ preceding the word “impossible™ is intended to show that, for
the purposcs of the article, it would not suffice for the “irrcsistible force™ or the
“‘unforescen cxternal event™ to have made it very difficult for the State to act in
conformity with the obligation . . . the Commission has sought to emphasize that the
State must not have had any option in that regard (Ybk. cit., p. 133, para. 40,
emphasis in the original).

In conclusion, New Zcaland is right in asserting that the excuse of
Jorce majeure is not of relevance in this case because the test of its
applicability is of absolute and material impossibility, and becausc a
circumstance rendering performance more difficult or burdensome docs
not constitutc a case of force majeure. Consequently, this cxcuse is of
no relevance in the present casc.

78. Article 32 of the Articles drafted by the International Law
Commission deals with another circumstance which may preclude
wrongfulness in international law, namely, that of the **distress’” of the
author of the conduct which constitutes the act of State whosc wrongful-
ness is in question.

Article 32 (1) reads as follows:

The wrongfulness of an act of a Stalc not in conformity with an international
obligation of that State is precluded if the author of the conduct which constitutes
the act of that State had no other meuns, in a situation of extreme distress, of saving
his life or that of persons entrusted to his care.

The commentary of the Intcrnational Law Commission explains
that ** *distress’ means a situation of cxtreme peril in which the organ of
the State which adopts that conduct has, at that particular moment, no
mcans of saving himself or persons cntrusted to his carc other than to act
in a manncr not in conformity with the requircments of the obligation in
qucstion” (Ybk. cit., 1979, p. 133, para. 1).

The report adds that in international practice distress, as i circum-
stance capable of precluding the wrongfulness of an otherwise wrongful
act of the State, “*has been invoked and recognized primarily in cases
involving the violation of a fronticr of another State, particularly its
airspacc and its sea—for example, when the captain of a State vesscl in
distress secks refuge from storm in a foreign port without authorization,
or when the pilot of a State aircraft lands without authorization on
forcign soil to avoid an otherwisc incvitable disaster™ (Ibid., p. 134.
para. 4). Yet the Commission found that **the ratio of the actual principle
suggests that it is applicable. if only by analogy, to other comparable
cases™ (7bid., p. 135, para. 8).
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The report points out the difference between this ground for pre-
cluding wrongfulncss and that of force majeure: “in these circum-
stanccs, the State organ admiticdly has a choice, cven if it is only between
conduct not in conformity with an intcrnational obligation and conduct
which is in conformity with the obligation but involves a sacrifice that it
is unreasonable to demand’ (Ybk. cil., p. 122, para. 3). But **this choice
is not a ‘real choice” or *free choice' as 1o the decision to be taken, since
the person acting on behalf of the State knows that if he adopts the
conduct required by the intcrnational obligation, he, and the persons
entrusted to his care, will almost incvitably perish. In such circumstan-
ces, the ‘possibility” of acting in conformity with the international
obligation is therefore only apparent. In practice it is nullificd by the
situation of extreme peril which, as wc have Jjust said, characterizes
situations of distress' (Ybk. cit.. p. 133, para. 2).

The report adds thal the situation of distress ‘‘may at mostincludc a
situation of serious danger, but not necessarily one that jeopardizes the
very existence of the person concerned. The protection of somcthing
other than life, particularly where the physical integrity of a person is
still involved, may admittedly represent an interest that is capablc of
severely restricting an individual's freedom of decision and induce him
lo act in a manner that is justifiable, although not in conformity with an
international obligation of the State™ (/bid., p. 135, para. 10). Thus, this
circumstance may also apply to safeguard other esscntial rights of
human beings such as the physical integrity of a person.

The report also distinguishes with precision the ground of justifica-
tion of Article 32 from the controversial doctrine of the state of nccessity
dealt within Article 33. Under Article 32, on distress, what is *‘involved
is situations of necessity'* with respect to the actual person of the State
organs or of persons entrusted to his care, **and not any rcal “necessity”
of the State™. i

On the other hand, Article 33, which allegedly authorizes a Statce to
take unlawful action invoking a state of necessity, refers to situations of
grave and imminent danger to the State as such and to its vital intcrests.

This distinction between the two grounds justifics the general ac-
ceptance of Article 32 and at the same time the controversial character
of the proposal in Article 33 on state of necessity.

It has been stated in this conncction that there is

no general principle allowing the defence of nccessity. There arc particular rules of
international law making allowance for varying degrees of necessity, but these cases
have a meaning and a scope entirely outside the traditional doctrine of state of
necessily. Thus, for instance. vessels in distress are allowed to seck refuge in a
foreign port, even if it is closed . . the casc of faminc in a country, a forcign ship
proceeding 1o another port may be detained and its cargo cxpropriated . . . In these
cases—in which adequate compensation must be paid—it is not the doctrine of the
state of necessity which provides the foundation of the particular rules, but human-
itarian considerations, which do not apply te the State as a body politic but are
designed 1o protect essential rights of human beings in a situation of distress. (Man-
ual of Public Internativnal Law, cd. Socrensen, p. 543.)

The question therefore is to determine whether the circumstances
of distress in a casc of extreme urgency involving elementary human-
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itarian considerations affecting the acting organs of the Statc may
cxclude wrongfulness in this case. s

79. In accordancc with the previous legal considerations. three
conditions would be required to justify the conduct followed by France
in respect to Major Mafart and Captain Pricur:

1) The existence of very exceptional circumstances of cxtreme
urgency involving medical or other considerations of an clementary
nature, provided always that a prompt recognition of the existence of
those exceptional circumstances is subsequently obtained from the
other interested party or is clearly demonstrated.

2) The reestablishment of the original situation of compliance
with the assignment in Hao as soon as the rcasons of emergency invoked
to justify the repatriation had disappeared. )

3) The existence of a good faith effort to try to obtain the consent
of New Zealand in terms of the 1986 Agreement.

The Case of Major Mafart

80. The New Zcaland rcaction to the French initiative for the
removal of Major Mafart appears to have been conducted in conformity
with the above considerations.

The decision to send urgently a medical doctor to Hao in order lo
verify the existence of the invoked ground of serious risk to life clearly
implicd that if the alleged conditions were confirmed, then the requested
consent would be forthcoming. _

Unfortunately, it proved impossible to procced with that verifica-
tion whilc Major Mafart was still on the island. The rule forb'idding
forcign aircraft from landing in Hao prevented the prompt arrival of
a New Zcaland medical doctor in a military airplane and accompanied
by a large crew. In these circumstances, the maintenance of the pre-
cxisting interdiction of foreign landing cannot be considered as
unfounded nor as deliberately designed to impede the New Zealand
authoritics from verifying the facts or frustrate their efforts to that end.
Likcwise, dificulties of communication and interpretation of state-
ments made in different languages may explain the misunderstanding as
to how and from where the New Zealand doctor would report his

conclusions. The parties blame cach other for the failure to carry out the -

verification in Hao, but there were many factors, not the fault pf any
party, nor questioning their good faith, which prevented the carrying out
of that verification in the short time available. The problem arose during
a weckend; communications had to be exchanged between Paris and
Wellington, with half a day *‘time difference’ between the two cities:
various departments were involved, etc. Conscquently, the conclusion
must be rcached that none of the parties is to blame for the failure in
carrying out the very difficult task of verifying in sitie Major Mafart’s
hecalth during that weekend.

81. The sending of Dr. Croxson to examine Major ‘Mah‘m the
siame day of the arrival of the latter in Paris had the same implication
indicated above, namely, that if the alleged conditions of urgency jus-
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tifying the cvacuation were verified, consent would very likely have
been given to what was until then a unilateral removal. The reservation
made by New Zealand in the formal diplomatic notc of 23 December
1987 rejccting the suggestion that its decision 1o accept the offer to send
a New Zecaland doctor to Paris to cxaminc Major Mafart could be
construed as acceptance of the cvacuation only applicd to any implica-
tion resulting from the sending of Dr. Croxson; il is obvious that the
acceptance of that French offer, by itsclf, could not imply consent to the
removal.

But, on the other hand, having accepted the offer to verily whether
Major Mafart had required an urgent sanitary cvacuation, subscquent
consent to that measure would necessarily be implicd, unless there was
an immediate and formal denial by New Zealand of the existence of the
medical conditions which had determincd Major Mafart's urgent re-
moval, accompanied by a formal request by New Zealand authoritics for
his immediate return to Hao, or at least to Papccte. And this did not
occur.

On the contrary, Dr. Croxson's first report, of 14 Dccember 1987,
accepts that Major Mafart nceded **detailed investigations which were
not available in Hao'" and his answer to the crucial question of whether
there was justification for the cmergency evacuation is cquivocal. He
apparently assumes that the only reason for the repatriation was the
need for immediate surgery, which was not the case, and he introduces a
distinction between emergency cvacuation and planncd urgent evacua-
tion, but in both alternatives justifying the sanitary cvacuation which
had been accomplished.

82. It was not until 12 Fcbruary 1988 when Dr. Croxson, then
accompanied by Professor Mallinson, stated: *‘there was no cvidence
produced to show that Major Mafart had an impending obstruction at the
time he was cvacuated from Hao and certainly, if he had, he should have
been airlifted to the nearest surgical center which we belicve exists in
Tahiti. It would have been dangcrous to have flown him to Paris™. But
this was post-facto wisdom: too latc to counteract the implications of his
previous reports, and the tolerance of the continuation of the treatment
for almost two months.

. 83. Thissixth report, datcd 12 February 1988, on the other hund,
evidences that therc was by that time a clear obligation-of the French
authoritics to return Major Mafart to Hao, by rcason of the disap-
pearance of the urgent medical emergency which had determined his
evacuation. This report, together with the absence of other medical
reports showing the recurrcnce of the symptoms which determined the
evacuation, demonstrates that Major Mafart should have been returned
1o Hao at least on 12 February 1988, and that failurc (o do so constituled
a breach by the French Government of its obligations under the First
Agreement. This breach is not justified by the decision of the French
authorities to retain Major Mafart in metropolitan France on the ground
that he was ‘‘unfit to serve overseas'".

84. Thi§ decision was bascd on a medical report by Professor
Daly. Taking into account the rcliance that both partics give to medical

vt
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reports concerning the state of health of Major Mafart, both in respect of
his removal from Hao and his pcrmancnce in France, it becomes neces-
sary to analyze the points ol agreement and disagreecment of the various
medical reports filed in the proceedings and pronounce on the differ-
cnces which exist between them. ;

The various medical reports by Dr. Croxson and Professor Daly
coincide in finding that after scveral weeks of investigation and cxplora-
tion no firm diagnosis had been reached and no clear abnormalitics had
been demonstrated. It is also stated in Dr. Croxson's fifth report that in
Junuary 1988 Major Mafart had been discharged from the hospital and
was living in a house within the hospital confines, being subject to
wecekly supervision by Professor Daly. Dr. Croxson also states in that
same report that during his visit with Professor Mallinson on 25 January
1988 he verificd that **Mafart has remained well since his last report of
18 January, with no major cpisodes of pain or abdominal distension’".
A final report by Dr. Croxson on 21 July 1988, after a S-month period of

_ observation, indicates **no change in Major Mafart's clinical condition

since last examination. No major cpisodes of severe abdominal pain,
abdominal distension and none requiring hospitalization or special in-
vestigations™.

There are no medical reports of French origin questioning or con-
tradicting these assertions of fact: this final report of Dr. Croxson,
communicated to the French authorities, has also been presented as an
Anncx to the French Counter-Mcmorial.

85. It is against this background that Professor Daly’s report
declaring Major Mafart *unfit for overseas service™’ must be examined.
In support of his conclusion Professor Daly states that in the case of
Major Mafart **close supervision is nccessary'’ and consequently “*he
must remain in mainland France inasmuch as this follow up can be
carricd out only in a modern and well-cquipped Hospital Center™.
Profcssor Daly invokes (wo grounds in support of his asscrtion that
*‘closc supcrvision is nccessary™: this must be done. according to him.
‘with the object of 1) **intercepting an cven morc aculce crisis, which may
require surgery”” or 2) “'planning the above-mentioned cxplorations™.

6. The first ground, the need for surgery, had been discarded by
all medical experts as an inappropriatc answer to the two crises cxper-
ienced by Major Mafart, both in Hao, in July 1987 and again in Dccem-
ber 1987. Dr. Croxson and Professor Mallinson concurred in the view
that the only indication for **surgery would be an acute and irrcversible
obstruction’’, adding that **there have been no signs 1o suggest complete
obstruction™.

This assertion was not qucstioned or contradicted by other mcdical
rcports.

Since such an intervention may be performed in any normally
cquipped surgical center, there is no medical justification to retain Major
Mafart in metropolitan France for the remote and unlikely cvent that he
would suffer, for the first time in his life, an aculc and irreversible
obstruction.
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87.  The sccond medical reason invoked in Professor Daly's report
was the need to “‘plan the above-mentioned explorations'. This scn-
tence refers to the fact that he indicates in his final report that **a number
of additional investigations could be contemplated'”, adding that “*these
points have been discussed with Professor Mallinson and Dr, Croxson"".
But the latter pointed out in their report that while they agreed with a
‘*barium-enema X-ray'* (which obviously may be performed in any
hospital), they had observed that *“‘we do not feel that mesenteric
angiography nor an ERCP arc cssential investigations in (Mafart's)
management; if they were they could have been carried out by now'".
This observation, not contested in any other medical report, is the
conclusive answer to, the second ground invoked by Professor Daly.

In consequence, there was no medical justification to retain Ma-
jor Mafart in metropolitan Francc instead of rcturning him to Hao in
compliance with the First Agreement.

88. The other ground leading Professor Daly to declare Major
Mafart *‘unfit to serve overscas for an undetermined period” was of a
legal and not of a medical character: the necd to apply the *‘rules of
fitness governing French military personnel”.

There is no reason to doubt that Professor Daly in his report and the
French authorities in refusing on this ground the return of Major Mafurt
to Hao were applying the French norms on the subject of physical
aptitude for service overseas and in general the French military regula-
tions and statutes.

But compliance with the First Agreement was not dependent on the
fact that Major Mafart should have been able to render active service in
the military base at the island of Hao. Under the special obligations
which the First Agrecment imposed on him he was not required to
render any military service at all. All that was required from him was to
be re-transferred to Hao and remain there until the cxpiration of the term
established in the First Agrecment, without any contact with the press
and other media. His transfer to Hao was not of a regular military
character; it was not an assignment subject to the normal conditions or
requirements of a French military posting. Lack of aptitude to scrve
actively in military service beyond the confines of metropolitan France
does not imply lack of aptitude to be re-transferred to Hao and remain
there for the requircd term. It has not been contended, nor cven sug-
gested, that the climate or the cnvironment in Hao could affect adver-
'sely Major Mafart’s health nor that the food available in the island could
be the causc of the troubles to his health.

Both partics recognized that the return of Major Mafart to Huao
depended mainly on his statc of hcalth. Thus, the French Ministry of
Foreign Affairs in its note of 30 December 1987 to the New Zealand
Embassy referring to France's respect for the 1986 Agreement had said
that Major Mafart will return to Hao when his state of health allowed.

Consequently, therc was no valid ground for Major Mafart con-
tinuing to remain in metropolitan France and the conclusion is unavoid-

able that this omission constitutes a material breach by the French -

Government of the First Agrcement.
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For the foregoing reasons the Tribunal:

—bya majority declarcs that the French Republic did not breach its
obligations to New Zcaland by removing Major Mafart from the
island of Hao on 13 December 1987;

— declares that the French Republic committed a material and con-
linuing breach of its obligation to New Zealand by failing to order the
return of Major Mafart to the island of Hao as from 12 February 1988,

The Case of Captain Prieur

89. As to the situation of Captain Prieur, the French authorities
advised the pr Zealand Government, on 3 May 1988, that she was
pregnant, adding that a medical report indicated that *‘this pregnancy
should be treated with special care . . .** The advice added that *“*the
medical facili('ics on Hao are not equipped to carry out the necessary
mcczjngzz'll examinations and to give Mrs. Prieur the care required by her
condition'".

90. The New Zealand authoritics answered this communication
on 4 May 1988, stating that **while Ncw Zcaland's consent is required in
terms of the 1986 Agrcement, this is not a .where, if the medical
situation justifics it, consent would be unre. isonably withheld"". This
communication added that the New Zealand Government **would like,
on the basis of medical consultation, to determine the nature of any
special treatment that Captain Pricur might necd and the place where the
necessary tests and ongoing treatment could be carried out if the facil-
itics at Hao are not adequate™. For this purpose *‘as a first step to
coming (o an agreement on this basis™, the New Zealand authoritics
advised that they were “‘making arrangements fora New Zealand doctor
with the requisite qualifications to fly on the first available flight 1o
P:npqclc for onward flight to Hao by French military transport™. The
nominated doctor was Dr. Bernard Brenner, qualified in obstctrics and
gynccology.
~ 91. On4 May 1988 the French authorities gavce their “‘agreement
for sending to Hao, as soon as possible, Doctor Bernard Brenner. The
latter would first be taken to Papecete by airliner or by a New Zcaland
military aircraft, and from there he would be transported to Hao by a
French military aircraft™ (sce para. 50).

However, industrial action by French airlinc pilots caused the
postponement of these plans by one day, until 6 May 1988.

In the interim, on 5 May 1988, the New Zealand Ambassador in
Paris was informed **by the Office of the Minister of Foreign Affairs'* of
a “‘new clement™, namely. that “*Dominique Pricur’s father, who is at
the Begin Hospital for trcatment of a cancer, is dying™", and **his condi-
tion is considered critical by the doctors'". The French authorities added
that: *‘we believed that, for obvious reasons of a humanitarian nature. it
was cssential that Dominiquc Pricur be able to see her father before his
death™. They advised of scveral solutions that were conceivable (sce
para. 52).
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92. It has been stated in paras. 53 to 56 ubovc’ that:

.'l.'hc New _anland Ambassador responded on 5 May that while
awaiting the Prime Minister's decision, the solution of sending a New
Zealand military aircraft was being studicd;

The French authoritics had indicated that the departure from Auck-
land could not be delayed beyond 7.30 a.m. Friday (New Zealand time),
“'the final deagﬂmc“ after which France would be running the risk that
Dominique Pricur would arrive in Paris too latc to scc her father alive;

The New Zealand authorities informed the French Government on
5 May 1988 at9.30 p.m. that they were not ready to give their consent for
the reason invoked but that the offer made because of Mrs. Pricur's
pregnancy remained valid; .

In their responsc on 5 May at 10.30 p.m., the French authoritics
stated that U}c f:'rench Government considered it impossible **for ob-
vious humanitarian reasons'" to keep Mrs. Pricur on Hao, and that the
officer:was thereforc leaving immediatcly for Paris;

The French authorities confirmed on 6 May that Mrs. Pricur had left
Haobya special flight on Thursday at 11.30 p.m. (Paris time) and was
expected in Paris at the end of the evening on that day (6 May).

93. The facts above, which are not disputed, show that New
Zealand would not oppose Captain Prieur's departure, if that became
necessary because of special care which might be required by her
pr:gna;.ncy..'rhey also indicate that France and New Zealand agreed that
Captain Prieur would be examincd by Dr. Brenner, a New Zealand
physician, before returning to Paris. Only because of the strike by
the U.T.A. airline, the examination that was to take place in Hao
on Thursday 5 May had to be postponed until Friday 6 May, since
Dr. Brenner would be arriving in Papectc at 3.25 p.m. local time, via Air
New Z;alm_l.d. As the French Republic acknowledges in its Counter-
Mempnal. It seemed that we werc moving towards a satisfactory
soluuon;“Ncw Zcaland's approval of Mrs. Pricur's departure scemed
probable™. Reconciliation of respect for the Agreement of 9 July 1986
and l!le'hurr'lanntarian concerns duc to the particular circumstances of
Mrs. Pricur’s pregnancy thus scemed (o have been achicved.

94.  On the other hand, it appears that during the day of 5 Ma

French Government suddenly decided to prcscgnl the )ll‘lcwj ';:.x);al:ﬁ
Government with the fair accompli of Captain Prieur’s hasty return fora
new reason, the health of Mrs. Pricur's father, who was scriously ill

hospitalized for cancer. Indisputably the health of Mrs. Pricur’s falhcr:
who un(:onunatc[y_would die on 16 May, and the concern for allowing
Mrs. Prieur to visit her dying father constitute humanitarian reasons
worthy of consideration by both Governments under the 1986 Agree-
ment. Qul the cvents of 5 May (French date) prove that the French
Republic did not make cfforts in good faith to obtain New Zealand's
consent. First of all, it must be remembered that France and New
Zea'land agreed that Captain Pricur would be examined in Huao on 6 May

which would allow her to return to France immediately. For France, in
this case, it was only a question of gaining 24 or 36 hours. Of coursc, the

health of Mrs Pricur’s father, who had been hospitalized for scveral
months. could serve as grounds for such acute and sudden urgency; but,
in this casc, New Zcaland would have had 1o be informed very preciscly
and completely. and not be presented with a decision that had alrcady
been made.

However, when the French Republic notified the Ambassador of
New Zealand on 5 May at 11.00 a.m. (French time), the latter was
mercly told that Mrs. Dominiquc Pricur’s father, hospitalized for cancer
treatment, was dying. Of course. it was explained that the New Zcaland
Government could verify “the validity of this information™ using a
physician of its choice, but the telegram the French Minister of Forcign
Affairs scnt to the Embassy of France in Wellington on 5 May 1988
clearly stated that the decision to repatriate was final. And this singular
announcement was addressed to New Zealand: ** After all, New Zcaland
should understand that it would be incomprehensible for both French
and New Zcaland opinion for the New Zcaland Government to stand in
the way of allowing Mrs. Pricur to sce her father on his death bed..."”
Thus, New Zcaland was really not asked for its approval, as compliance

“with France's obligations requircd, cven under cxtremely urgent cir-

cumstances: it was indeed demanded so firmly that it was bound to
provoke a strong reaction from New Zcaland.

95. The events that followed confirm that the French Govern-
ment's decision had alrcady been made and that it produced a fore-
sccable reaction. Indeed. at 9.30 p.m. (French time) on 5 May, the
Ambassador of New Zealand in Paris announced that the New Zcaland
Government was not prepared to approve Mrs. Pricur’s departure from
Hao, for the reason given that very morning by the French Government.
But the New Zcaland Government cxplained that the *‘responsc and
Necw Zcaland's offer concerning the consequences of Mrs. Prieur’s
pregnancy were still valid'*. France, thercfore, could have expected the
procedurc agreed upon by rcason of Mrs. Pricur’s pregnancy to be
respected. Quite on the contrary, the French Government informed the
New Zealand Ambassador at 10.30 p.m. that **the French officer is thus
Jecaving immcdiately for Paris™. and Mrs. Pricur actually left Hao on
board a special flight at 11.30 p.m. (Paris timc). It would be very unlikcly
that the special flight leaving Hao at 11.30 p.m. had not been planncd and
organized before 10.30 p.m., when the French decision was intimated,
and cven before 9.30 p.m., the time of New Zealand's responsc. Indeed,
the totality of facts prove that, as of the morning of Thursday, 5 May,
France had decided that Captain Pricur would leave Hao during the day.
with or without New Zcaland's approval.

96. Pondcring the reasons for the haste of France, New Zealand
contended that Captain Prieur’s ‘removal look place against the back-
drop of French presidential clections in which the Prime Minister was a
candidate’ and New Zealand pointed out that Captain Pricur’s depar-
turc and arrival in Paris had been widely publicized in France. During
the oral proceedings, New Zcaland produced the text of an interview
given on 27 Scptember 1989 by the Prime Minister at the relevant time.
cxplaining the following on the subject of the **Turenge couple™™: "l take
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responsibility for the decision that was made, and could not imagine how
these two officers could be abandoncd after having obcycd the highest
authorities of the State. Because it was the last days of my Government,
I decided to bring Mrs. Pricur, who was pregnant, back from the Pucific
atoll where she was stationed. Had I failed to do so, she would surcly
still be there today ™, New Zealand alleges that the French Government
acted in this way for reasons quitc different from the motive or pretext
invoked. The Tribunal need not scarch for the French Government's
motives, nor cxaminc the hypothescs alleged by New Zealand. It only
observes that, during the day of 5 May 1988. France did not scck New
Zealand's approval in good faith for Captain Pricur's sudden departure;
and accordingly, that the return of Captain Pricur, who left Hao on
Thursday, 5 May at 11.30 p.m. (French time) and arrived in Paris on
Friday, 6 May, thus constituted a violation of the obligations under the
1986 Agreement.

This violation scems cven more regretlable because, as of 12 Feb- .

ruary 1988, France had been in a state of continuing violation of its

" obligations concerning Major Mafart, as stated above, which normally

e ksl

should have resulted in special care concerning compliance with the
Agrcement in Captain Pricur’s case.

97. Morcover, France continued to fall short of its obligations
by keeping Captain Pricur in Paris after the unfortunate death of her

' father on 16 May 1988. No medical report supports or demonstrates the

original claim by French authoritics to the effect that Captain Pricur's
pregnancy required **particular carc' and demonstrating that **the med-
ical facilities on Hao are not cquipped to carry out the nccessary medical
examinations and to give Mrs. Prieur the care rcquired by her condi-
tion™". There is no evidence either which demonstrates that the facilities
in Papeete, originally suggested by the New Zcaland Ambassador in
Paris, were also inadequate: on the contrary, positive cvidence has been
presented by New Zecaland as to their adcquacy and sophistication.
The only medical report in the files concerning Captain Pricur’s
health is one from Dr. Croxson, dated 21 July 1988, which appcears to
discard the nceessity of *“*particular care™ for a pregnancy which is
“*procecding uneventfully™. This medical report adds that **no special
arrangements for later pregnancy or delivery arc planned, and I formed
the opinion that management would be conducted on usual clinical

. critenia for a 39-year-old, fit, healthy woman in her first pregnancy'.

So, the record provides no justification for the failure to return
Captain Pricur to Hao some time after the death of her father.

98. The fact that “*pregnancy in itsclf normally constitutes a con-
tra-indication for overseas appointment” is not a valid explanation,
because the return to Hao was not an assignment to service. or **an
assignment”’ or military posting, for the reasons alrcady indicated in the
case of Major Mafart.

Likewise, the fact that Captain Pricur benefited, under French
regulations, from **military lcave which she had not taken previously™,
as wellas *'the maternity and nursing leaves cstablished by French law ™
may be measures provided by French military laws or regulations.
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But in this casc, as in that of Major Mafart, French military laws or
regulations do not constitute the limit of the obligations of France or of
the consequential rights deriving for New Zealand from those obliga-
tions. The French rules **governing military discipline” arc rgfcrrcd to
in the fourth paragraph of the First Agreement not as the limit of_Ncw
Zcaland rights, but as the mcans of cnforcing the sllpqlal‘gd conditions
and cnsuring that they **will be strictly comphgd with'", Morgovcr.
French military laws or regulations can never be invoked to justify the
breach of a treaty. As the French Counter-Memorial properly stated:
**the principle according to which the existence of a domestic rcgulapon
cun never be an excusc for not complying with an international obliga-
tion is well established, and France subscribes to it completely™.

99. In summary, the circumstances of distress, of cxtreme ur-
gency and the humanitarian considerations invoked by France may have
been circumstances excluding responsibility for the unilateral removal
of Major Mafart without obtaining New Zcaland's consent, byt'glcarly
these circumstances entircly fail 1o justify France's responsibility for
the removal of Captain Pricur and from the breach of its obligations
resulting from the failure to return the two officers to Hao (in the case of
Major Mafart once the rcasons for their removal had disappeared).
There was herea clear breach of its obligations and a breach of a material
character. ;

100.  According to Articlcs 60 (3) (b) of the Vienna Convention on
the Law of Treaties, a matcrial breach of a treaty consists in *‘the
violation of a provision essential to the accomplishment of the object or
purposc of the treaty®'. ;

The main object or purposc of the obligations assumed by Francc in
Clauscs 3 to 7 of the First Agrecment was to ensure that the two agents,
Muajor Mafart and Captain Prieur, were transferred to the island of Hao
and remained there for a period of not lcss than three years, being
subject to the special regime stipulated in the Exchange of Letters.

To achieve this object or purpose, the third and_fourlh paragraphs
of the First Agreement provide that New Zealand will transfer the two
agents to the French military authoritics and these authoritics will
immediately transfer them to a French military facility in Hao. The
prohibition *‘from leaving the island for any rcason without the mutual
consent of the two Governments' was the means to guarantec the
fulfilment of the fundamental obligation assumed by France: to keep the
agents in Hao and submit them to the special regime of isolation and
restriction of contacts described in the fourth paragraph of the Exchange
of Letters. ]

The facts show that the esscntial object or purposc of the First
Agreement was not fulfilled, since the two agents left the island before
the expiry of the three-ycar period. )

This leads the Tribunal to conclude that there have been matcrial
brcaches by France of its international obligations.

101. In its codification of the Law of State Responsibility, the

International Law Commission has made another classification of the w
different types of breaches, taking into account the time factor as an l/)
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mgreqlem of the obligation. It is based on the determination of what is
desc_nbcd_ as tempus commissi delictu, that js lo say, the duration or
continuation in time of the breuch. Thus the Commission distinguishcs
the breaph Which does not extend in time, or instantancous breach,
defined in Article 24 of the draft, from the breach having a continuing
character or extending in time. In the latter case, according 1o para-
graph | of Article 25, *‘the time of commission of the breach cxtends
over the entire period during which the act continucs and remains not jn
conformity with the international obligation'".

Applqug !his_classi_ﬁca(ion to the present casc, it is clear that the
breach consisting in the failure of returning to Hao the two agents has
been not only a material but also a continuous breach.

And this cla.?siﬁcé(ion is not purely theoretical, but, on the con-
trary, it has practical consequences, since the seriousness of the breach
and its prolongation in time cannot fail to have considcrable bearing on

leaving the island of Hao;

— declarps that as a conscquence the French Republic committed a
material breach of its ob igations by removing Captain Pricur from
the island of Hao on 5§ and 6 May 1988;

Duration of the Obligations

102. The Panips in this casc arc in complcte disagreement with
respect to the duruum_'n of the obligations assumed by Francc in para-
graphs 3 to 7 of the First Agrcement.

New Zealand contends that the obligation in the Exchange of Let-

years™', Accordi.ng to the New Zealand Government, this is clearly nota
fixed period ending on a predetermined date. “*The three-year period, in
its context, clez_xrly means the period of time to be spent by Major Mafart
and Captain Prieur on Hao rather than a continuous or fixed time span.
In the event of an interruption to the three-year period, the obligation
assumed by France to ensure that citherorboth agents serve the balance
ofthe three years would remain'". Consequently, concludes the Govern-
ment of New Zealand, **France is under an ongoing obligation to return
Major Mafart and Captain Prieur to Hao 1o serve out the balance of their
three-year confinement"".

o B S i o
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103.  Forits part, the French Government answers: “'itis truc that
the 1986 Agreement docs not fix the exact date of expiry of the specific
regime that it sets up for the two agents. But neither docs it fix the exact
date that this regime will take cffect™. The reason, adds the French
Government, is that in paragraph 7 of the First Agreement. itis provided
that the undertakings relating to “'the transfer of Major Mafart and
Captain Pricur will be implemented not later than 25 July 1986™. Con-
scquently. adduces the French Government, *it is quitc obviously the
cffeetive date of transfer to Huo which should constitutc the dies a quo
and thus determine the dies ad quem . . . The obligation assumed by
France to post the two officers to Hao and to subject them there 1o
regime that restricts some of their frecdoms was planned by the partics
1o last for three years beginning on the day the transfer to Huo became
cffective; this transfer having taken place on 22 July 1986, the three-ycar
period allotted for the obligatory stay on Hao and its attendant obliga-
tions"" cxpired three years aficr., that is to say, on 22 July 1989.

The French Government adds in the Reply that **a period is quite
preciscly a continuous and fixed interval oftime'" and *‘even if no cxact
cxpiry datc was expressly stated in advance, this datc nccessarily fol-
lows from the determination of both a time period and the dies a quo™.
The French Government remarks, morcover, that there is no rule of
international law cxtending the Iength of an obligation by rcason of its
breach.

104. It results from paragraph 7 of the Agreement of 9 July 1986
that both partics agreed that **the undertakings relating to an apology.
the payment of compensation and the transfer of Major Mafart and
Captain Pricur" should be implemented as soon as possible. For that
purposc, they fixed a completion date of not later than 25 July 1986. In
respect of the two agents, the date of their delivery to French military
autheritics was 22 July 1986. thus bringing to an end their prison lcrm in
New Zcaland. In order to avoid any gap or interval, paragraph 3 of the
Agreement required that the two agents should be transferred 1o a
French military basc “'immediately thereafter' their dclivery. There is
no question therefore that the special regimen stipulated and the under-
takings assumed by the French Government began to opcratc unin-
terruptedly on 22 July 1986. It follows that such a special regime,
intended to last for a minimum period of three years, expired on 22 July
1989. It would be contrary to the principles concerning treaty interpreta-
tion to reach a morc cxtensive construction of the provisions which thus
established a limited duration to the special undertakings assumed by
France.

105. The characterization of the breach as onc cxtending or con-
linuing in time, in accordance with Article 25 of the draft on Statc
Responsibility (sec para. 101). confirms the previous conclusion con-
cerning the duration of the relevant obligations by France under the
First Agrcement.

According to Article 25, “*the time of commission of the breuch™
extends over the entire period during which the unlawful uct continues
to take place. France committed a continuous breach of its obligations.
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without any interruption or suspension, during the whole period when
the two agents remained in Paris in breach of the Agreement.

If the breach was a continuous onc, as established in paragraph 101
abovp. that means that the violated obligation also had to be running
continuously and without interruption. The **time of commission of the
brcach." conslituted an uninterrupted period, which was not and could
not be intermittent, divided into fractions or subject to intervals. Since it
had begun on 22 July 1986. it had to end on 22 July 1989, at the cxpiry of
the three years stipulated.

Thus, while France continucs to be liable for the breaches which
occurred before 22 July 1989, it cannot be said today that France is now
in breach of its international obligations.

106.  This does not mean that the French Government is cxempt
from responsibility on account of the previous breaches of its obliga-
tions, committed while these obligations were in force.

Article 70 (1) of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties
provides that:

the termination of a treaty under its provisions . . .
(b) does not affect any right, obligation or legal situation of the partics created
through the execution of the trealy prior to its determination.
. Referring to claims based on the previous infringement of a treaty
which had since expired, Lord McNair stated:

such claims acquire an cxistence independent of the treaty whaose breach gave rise to
them (ICJ Reports, 1952, p. 63).

In this case it is undisputed that the breaches of obligation incurred
by the French Government discussed in paragraphs 88 und 101 of the
Award—the failure to return Major Mafart and the removal of and
fall_ure o return Captain Pricur—were committed at a time when the
obligations assumed in the First Agreement were still in force.

Conscqucnlly. the claims advanced by New Zcaland have an exist-
ence independent of the cxpiration of the First Agreement and entitle
New Zealand to obtain adequate relicf for thesc breaches.

For the forcgoing reasons the Tribunal:

— by a majority declares that the obligations of the French Republic
requiring the stay of Major Mafart and Captain Pricur on the island of
Hao ended on 22 July 1989, .

Existence of Damage

107. Before. examining the question of adequatc relief for the
aggrieved State, it is necessary to deal with a fundamental objection
which has been raised by the French Government. The French Govern-
ment opposes the New Zealand claim for rclief on the ground that such a
claim ““completely ignores a central clement, the damage ™, since it docs
not indicate that **the slightest damage has been suffered, even moral
damage*®',

And, the French Republic adds. in the theory of international
responsibility, damage is necessary to provide a basis for liability (o
make reparation.

'
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108.  New Zealand gives a two-fold answer to the French objcc-
tion: first, it contends that it has been confirmed by the International
Law Commission draft on State Responsibility that damage is not a
precondition of liability or responsibility and second, that in any event,
New Zealand has suffered in this casce legal and moral damage. New
Zcaland asscrts that it is not claiming material damage in the sensc of
physical or dircct injury to persons or property resulting in an identifi-
ablc cconomic loss, but it is claiming lcgal damage by rcason of having
been victim of a violation of its treaty rights, even if there is no question
of a matcrial or pecuniary loss. Moreover, New Zcaland claims moral
damage since in this case there is not a purcly technical breach of a
treaty, but a breach causing deep offence to the honour, dignity and
prestige of the State. New Zcaland points out that the affront it suffered
by the premature releasc of the two agents in breach of the treaty revived
all the feelings of outrage which had resulted from the Rainbow Waurrior
incident,

109. In the oral proccedings, France made it clear that it had never
said, as New Zcaland had once maintained, that only material or cco-
nomic damage is taken into consideration by intcrnational law. It added
that there exist other damages, including moral and even legal damage.
In light of this statement, New Zealand remarked in the hearings that
France recognized in principle that there can be legal or moral dam-
age. and that material loss is not the only form of damage in this
case. Conscquently, the doctrinal controversy between the partics over
whether damage is or is not a precondition to responsibility became
moot. so long as therc was legal or moral damage in this casc. Accord-
ingly, both parties agrce that

in inter-State relations, the concept of damage does not possess an exclusive mate-
rial or patrimonial charucter. Unlawful action against non-matcrial interests. such as
acts affecting the honor. dignity or prestige of a State, entitle the victim State o
receive adequate reparation. even if those acts have not resulted in a pecuniary or
malterial loss for the claimant State (cf. Soerensen, Manual cit.. p. 5‘34).

110. In the present case the Tribunal must find that the infringe-
ment of the special regime designed by the Sccretary-General to
reconcile the conflicting views of the Parties has provoked indignation
and public outrage in New Zcaland and caused a new, additional non-
material damage. This damage is of a moral, political and legal naturc,
resulting from the affront to the dignity and prestige not only of New
Zcaland as such, but of its highest judicial and exccutive authoritics us
well.

The Appropriate Remedies

On the Request for an **Order'” 10 the French Republic to Return its
Agents to Hao
I11. It follows from the forcgoing findings that Ncw. Zcaland is
cntitled to appropriate remedics. It claims certain declarations. to the
cffect that France has breached the First Agrcement.

S¢
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But New Zcaland sceks as well an order for the return of the agents.
It asserts in its Memorial, under the title **Restitutio in integrum® that

action by France, i.c., positive steps to return Major Mafart and Cap-
tain Prieur to Hao and to keep them for the minimum of three ycars
required by the First Agreement”,

New Zealand points out that any other remedy would be inap-
propriate in this case. While France suggests that the appropriatc rem-
edy for non-material damage is satisfaction in the form of a declaration,
New Zealand states that a mere declaration that France was in breach
would be simply a statement of the obvious, and would not be satisfac-
tory at all for New Zealand. A declaration of the respective rights and
duties of the parties, contends New Zealand, would be an appropriatc
remedy in those cases where it is clear that once the judicial declaration
is made, the Partjes will conform their conduct to it, but it is not an
appropriate remedy in this case because it is clear that France will not
return the two agents to Hao unless specifically ordered to do s0.

. Asto cessation, New Zealand contends that an order to that effect
will suffice in those cases where the breach consists not of aclive

wants a party to desist from certain action cessation would be ap-
propriate, but not if onc wants a party to act positivcly.,

Finally, as 1o reparation in the form of an indemnity, New Zcaland
contends that, at least in cases of treaty breach, what 4 claimant State
seeks is not Pecuniary compensation but actual, specific.compliance or
performance of the treaty, adding that if the parly in breach were not
expected to comply with the treaty, but nced only pay monctary com-
pensation for the breach, States would in effect be able (o buy the
privilege of breaching a treaty and the norm pacta sunt servanda would

Zealand, that where responsibility arises from a fundamental breach of
treaty, the remedy of restitution, in the sense of an order for specific
performance, is the most appropriate rcmedy.

112, For its part, the French Republic maintains that adequale
reparation for moral or legal damage can only take the form of satisfuc-
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{0 no more than a breach of the law, a declaration by the judge of this
breach constitutes appropriate satisfaction.

France points out, morcover, that, rather than restitutio, what New
Zealand iy demanding is the cessation of the denounced behavior, i.c..
“a remedy aimed at stopping the illegal behavior and consisting of a
demand for exccution of the obligation which has stjll not been car-
ricd out™, according 10 the definition of the Special Rapporteur for
the International Law Commission on State Rcsponsibilily. Professor
Arangio-Ruiz.

But, France adds, only illegal behavior that continues up to the day
when the problem is posed can be subject to cessation. For cessation to

maintain the agents on Hao is in cffect on the day the Tribunal rules. A
State cannot be condemned to carry out an obligation by which it is no
longer bound: if the obligation is no longer in effect on the day the judge
rules, this judge can state that, in the past, when the obligation was in
effect, anillegal act was committed. But the judge cannot give aruling of
restitutio in integrum or of specific performance of the obligation be-
Causc oncc the obligation is no longer in effect, the judge docs not have
the power to revive jt,

The French Republic concludes that it would be impossible to force
France to put a S1Op to a situation that has already ceased to cxist; the
order for exccution in kind cannol be granted since there is no longer
anything that can be exccuted in the future.

113. Recent studies on State responsibility undertaken by the
Special Rapporteurs of the International Law Commission have led 1o
an analysis in depth of the distinction between an order for the cessation
of the unlawful act and restitutio in integrum. Professor Riphagen ob-
served that in numerous cases “'stopping the breach was involved,
rather than reparation or restitutio in integrum stricto sensu’ (Ybk.

LL.C. 1981, vol. I, Part I, doc. A/CN.4/342, and Add. -4, para. 76).

The present Special Rapporteur, Professor Arangio-Ruiz, has pro-
poscd a distinction between the two remedies (ILC Report 1o the Gen-
cral Assembly for 1983, para. 538).

In the ficld of doctrine, Profcssor Dominicé has rightly observed
that **the obligation to bring an illcgal situation (o an end is not repara-
tion, but a return to the initial obligation", adding that **if onc spcaks.
regarding this type of circumstance, of an obligation to give (in the
general sense) restitutio in integrum, it does not actually mean repara-
tion. What is required is a return. to the situation demanded by law, the
cessation of illegal behavior. The victim State is not claiming a new
right. created by the illegal act. It is demanding respect for its rights, ag
they were before the illegal act, and as they remain™ (Obscrvations on
the rights of a State that is the victim of an intcrnationally wrongful act.
Droitinternational 2, Institut des Hautes Etudes Internationales. Paris,
1982, p. 1, 27).
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The International Law Commission has accepted the insertion of
an article separate from the provisions on reparation and dealing with
the subject of cessation, thus endorsing the view of the Special Rappor-
teur Arangio-Ruiz that cessation has inhcrent properties of its own
which distinguish it from reparation (ILC Report to the General Assem-
bly for 1989, para. 259).

Special Rapporteur Arangio-Ruiz has also pointed out that the
provision on cessation compriscs all unlawful acts cxtending in time,
regardless of whether the conduct of a State is an action or an omission
(ILC Report to the General Asscmbly for 1988, para. 537).

This is right, since there may be cessation consisting in abstaining
from certain actions—such as supporting the **contras’"—or consisting
in positive conduct, such as relcasing the U.S. hostages in Tcheran.

Therc is no room, therefore, for the distinction made by New

Zealand on this point (sec para. 111).

Undoubtedly the order requested by the New Zealand Government
for the return of the two agents would really be an order for the cessation
of the wrongful omission rather than a restitutio in integrum. This
characterization of the New Zcaland request is relevant to the Tribu-
nal’s decision, since in those cases where material restitution of an

- object is possible, the expiry of a treaty obligation may not be, by itsclf,
an obstacle for ordering restitution.

ol 3 & S The question which arises is whether an order for the cessa-
tion or d[scon(muance of the wrongful omission may be issued in the
present circumstances.

The authority to issue an order for the cessation or discontinuance
of a wrongful act or omission results from the inherent powers of a
competent tribunal which is confronted with the continuous breach of an
international obligation which is in force and continues to be in force.
The delivery of such an order requires, therefore, two essential condi-
tions intimatcly linked, namely that the wrongful act has a continuing
characterand that the violated rule s still in force at the time in which the
order is issucd.

Obviously, a breach ceases to have a continuing character as soon
as the violated rule ceases to be in force.

The recent jurisprudence of the International Court of Justice con-
firms that an order for the cessation or discontinuance of wrongful acts
or omissions is only justificd in casc of continuing breaches of inter-
national obligations which are still in force at the time the judicial order
is issued. (The United States Diplomatic and Consular Staff in Teheran
Case, I.C.J. Reports, 1979, p. 21, para. 38 to 41, and 1980, para. 95,
No. I; The Case Concerning Military and Paramilitary Activities in and
Against Nicaragua, I.C.J. Reports, 1984, p. 187, and 1986, para. 292,
p. 149.)

If, on the contrary, the violated primary obligation is no longer in-

force, naturally an order for the cessation or discontinuance of the
wrongful conduct would scrve no uscful purpose and cannol be issued.
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It would be not only unjustified, but above all illogical to issuc the
order rcquested by New Zcaland, which is really an order for the
cessation or discontinuance of a certain French conduct, rather than a
restitutio. The reason is that this conduct, namely to keep the two aigents
in Paris, is no longer unlawful, since the international obligation expircd
on 22 July 1989. Today, Francc is no longer obliged to return the two
agents to Hao and submit them to the special regime.

For the foregoing rcasons the Tribunal:

— dcclares that it cannot accept the request of New Zcaland for a
declaration and an order that Major Mafart and Captain Prieur return
to the island of Hao.

115. On the other hand, the French contention that satisfaction is
the only appropriate remedy for non-material damage is also not jus-
tificd in the circumstances of the present case.

The granting of a form of rcparation other than satisfaction has becn
rccognized and admitted in the relations between the parties by the
Ruling of the Secretary-General of 9 July 1986, which has been accepted
and implemented by both Partics to this case.

In the Memorandum presented to the Sccretary-General, the New
Zealand Government requested compensation for non-malcrial.dam-
age, stating that it was “‘cntitled to compensation for the violation of
sovercignty and the affront and insult that that involved™'.

The French Government opposed this claim, contending that the
compensation ‘‘could concern only the material damage suffered by
New Zcaland, the moral damage being compensated by the offer of
apologies™'.

But the Secretary-General did not make any distinction, ruling
instcad that the French Government **should pay the sum of US dollars
7 million to the Government of New Zcaland as compensation for all the
damage it has suffered” (Ibid., p. 32, emphasis added).

In the Rejoinder in this case, the French Government has admitted
that “*the Secretary-General grantcd New Zealand double reparation for
moral wrong, i.e., both satisfaction, in the form of an official apology
from France, and reparations in the form of damages and intercst in the
amount of 7 million dollars*".

In compliance with the Ruling, both parties agreed in the second
paragraph of the First Agrecement that **the French Government will pay
the sum of US 7 million to the Government of New Zealand as compen-
sation for all the damage which it has suffered’’ (emphasis added).

It clearly results from thesc terms, as well as from the amount
allowed, that the compensation constituted a reparation not just for
material damage—such as the cost of the police investigation—but for
non-material damage as well, regardicss of material injury and indepen-
dent therefrom. Both partics thus accepted the legitimacy of monctary
compensation for non-material damages.

Y
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On Monetary Compensation

116. T_he Tribunal has found that France has committed scrious
breaches of its obligations to New Zealand. But it has also concluded
that no order can be madc to giveeffect to these obligations requiring the
agents (o return lo the island of Hao, because these obligations have
already expired. The Tribunal has accordingly considcred whether it
should add to the declarations it will be making an order for the payment
by France of damages.

117. The Trib_unal considers that it has power to make an award of
monetary compensation for breach of the 1986 Agreement under its
Juns'dlcl.non to decide *‘any dispute concerning the interpretation or the
application™ of the provisions of that Agreement (Chorzow Factory
Case (Jurisdiction) PCLJ Pubs. Ser A. No. 9, p. 21). ’

118. The Tribuglal next considers that an order for the payment of
monetary compensation can be made in respect of the breach of inter-
national obligations involving, as here, serious moral and legal damage
even though lhcl:e is no matcrial damage. As alrcady indicated, the
breaches 2are serious oncs, involving major departures from solemn
treaty obhgguons entered into in accordance with a binding ruling of the
United Nations Secretary-General. It is true that such orders are un-
us:xealfbug o:xe ex%lanFalion of that is that these requests arc relatively
rare, tor instance by France in the Carthage and Manoubu cascs (191
(11 UNRIAA 449, 463), and by New anl:nd in the 1986 process t(nl:?ogg
the Secretary-General, accepted by France in the First Agreement.,
'Moreover, such orders have been made, for instance in the last casc.

119. New Zealand has not however requested the award of mon-
etary compensation—even as a last resort should the Tribunal not make
the declarations and orders for the return of the agents. The Tribunal can
understand that position in terms of an assessment made by a State of its
dignity and its sovereign rights. The fact that New Zcaland has not
sought an order for compensation also means that France has not
addressed this quite distinct remedy in its written pleadings and oral
arguments, or even had the opportunity to do so. Further, the Tribunal
itself has not had the advantage of the argument of the two Partics on the
Issues mentioned in paragraphs 117 and 118, or on other relevant mat-
ters, such as the amount of damages.

120.  For these reasons, and because of the issuc menti i
15, ntioned in
paragraphs 124 10 126 following, the Tribunal has decided notto make an
order for monetary compensation.

On Declarations of Unlawfulness as Satisfuction

121. The Tribunal considers in turn satisfacti
F ers ction by way of declura-
tions of breach. Furthcrmqrc. in light of the foregoing considerations, it
will make a recommendation to the two Governments.
. 122. There is a long established practice of States and interna-
tional Court_s and Tribunals of using satisfaction as a remedy or form of
reparation (in the wide scnsc) for the breach of an international oblie:-
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tion. This practice rclates particularly to the case of moral or legal
damage donc dircctly to the State, especially as opposcd to the case of
damagce Lo persons involving international responsibilitics. The whole
matter is valuably and extensively discussed by Professor Arangio-Ruiz
in his sccond report (1989) for the Intcrnational Law Commission on
State Responsibility (A/CN.4/425, paras. 7-19, and Ch. 3, paras. 106-
145 sce also Ch. 4, paras. 146-161, “*Guarantces of Non-Repetition in
the Wrongful Act"). He demonstrates wide support in the writing as
well as in judicial and State practice of satisfaction as “‘the special
remedy for injury to the State's dignity, honour and prestige™ (para.
106).

Satisfaction in this sensc can take and has taken various forms.
Arangio-Ruiz mentions regrets, punishment of the responsible indivi-
duals, safeguards against repetition, the payment of symbolic or nom-
inal damages or of compensation on a broader basis, and a decision of an
international tribunal declaring the unlawfulness of the State's conduct
(para. 107; sce also his draft article 10, A/CN.4/425/Add.1, p. 25).

123. It is to the last of these forms of satisfaction for an inter-
national wrong that the Tribunal now turns. The Partics in the present
casc are agreed that in principlc such a declaration of breach could be
made—although France denicd that it was in breach of its obligations
and New Zealand sought as well a declaration and order of return. There
is no doubt both that this power exists and that it is scen as a significant
sanction. In two rclated cascs brought by France against Italy for
unlawful interference with French ships, the Permancnt Court of Ar-
bitration, having made an order for the payment of compensation for
malcrial loss, stated that:

in the casc in which a Power has failed to meet its obligations . . . 10 another Power,
the statement of that fact, especially in an arbitral award, constitutes in itsell a
scrious sanction (Carthdge and Manouba cases (1913) 11 UNRIAA 449, 463).

Most notable is the judgment of the International Court of Justice in
the Corfu Channel (Merits) Case (1949 ICJ Reports 4). The Court,
having found that the British Navy had acted unlawfully, in the oper:
ative part of its decision:

gives judgment that . . . the United Kingdom Government violated the sovereignty
of the People’s Republic of Albania, and that this declaration of the Court con-
slitutes in itself appropriate satisfaction.

.The Tribunal accordingly dccides to make four declarations of
material breach of its obligations by France and further decides in
compliance with Article 8 of the Agrecment of 14 February 1989 o make
public the text of its Award.

For the foregoing reasons the Tribunal:

— declares that the condemnation of the French Republic for its
breaches of its treaty obligations to New Zcaland, made public by the
decision of the Tribunal, constitutes in the circumstances appro-
priate satisfaction for the legal and moral damage caused to New
Zealand.
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Recommendation

124. New Zealand and France have had close and éonlinuing
relations since the early days of Europc:m. exploration of the South

Paciﬂc.AThe relationship has grown morc intensc and fricndly since

two countries forged in peace and war, particularly in the two world
wars; and, notwithstanding difficultjes of great distance, it extends to
the full range of cultural, social, economic and political matters.

125.  From the time of the acknowledgement by the French Re-
public of its responsibility for the unlawful attack on the Rainbow
Warrior, senior members of the Governments of both countries have
stressed their wish to re-establish and strengthen those good relations. A
critical element in that process is a fair and final scttlement of the issucs
arising from that incident and the later events with which this Award is
concerned. So the 1986 Agreements, giving cffect to the Secretary-
General's Ruling, stress the wish of the two Governments to maintain
the close and friendly relations traditionally existing between them.
In the hearing beforc the Tribunal, the Agents of the two Govern-
ments emphasized the warming of the relationship, referring for in-
stance to a relevant statement made by Mr. Rocard, the French Prime
Minister, during his visit in August 1989 to the South Pacific. Moreover,
Mr. Lange, now Attorney-General of New Zealand and from July 1984
to August 1989 Prime Minister, spoke before the Tribunal of the
dynamic of reconciliation now operating between the two countrics.

126. Thatimportant relationship, the nature of the decisions made
by the Tribunal, and the earlicr discussion of monctary compensation
lead the Tribunal to make a recommendation. The recommendation,
addressed to the two Governments, is intended to assist them in putting
an end to the present unhappy affair.

-127. Consequently, the Tribunal recommends to the Government
of France and the Government of New Zealand that they sct up a fund to
promote closc and friendly relations between the citizens of the two
countries and rccommends that the Government of France make an
initial contribution cquivalent to US Dollars 2 million to that fund.

128.  The power of an arbitral tribunal to address recommenda-
tions to the partics to a disputc, in addition to the formal finding and
obligatory decisions contained in the award, has been recognized in
previous arbitral decisions. During the hearings, the New Zcaland At-
torney-General proposed that the Tribunal make some rccommenda-
tions. The Agent for France has not challenged in any way the power of
the Tribunal to make such recommendations in aid of the resolution of
the dispute.

For the foregoing reasons the Tribunal:

— inlight of the above decisions, reccommends that the Governments of
the French Republic and of New Zcaland set up a fund to promote
close and friendly relations between the citizens of the two countrics,

D D A e L S

|
|
j
e
]

CASE CONCERNING RAINBOW WARRIOR AFFAIR 275

and that the Goycrnmcnl of the French Republic make an initjal
contribution equivalent to US Dollars 2 million to that fund.

VL Decision

For these reasons,
THE ARBITRAL TRIBUNAL

) 1) b.y a majority declares that the French Republic did not breach
its obligation to New Zealand by removing Major Mafart from the island
of Hao on 13 December 1987;

2) declares lhal_ the French Republic committed a material and
continuing brcaph of its obligations to New Zcaland by failing to order
the return of Major Mafart to theisland of Hao as from 12 February 1988;

3 declares that the French Republic committed a material breach

4) declares thatas a consequence the French Republic committed
amatcrial brcach_ ofits obligations to New Zcaland by removing Captain
Pricur from the island of Haoon 5 and 6 May 1988;

5) declares that the French Republic committed a material and
continuing breach of jts obligations to New Zealand by failing to order
the return of Captain Pricur 10 the island of Hao; .

6) by A majority declares that the obligations of the French Re-
public requiring the stay of Major Mafart and Captain Prieur on the
island of Hao ended on 22 July 1989;

7) asa consequence dcplarcs that it cannot accept the requests of

New anlqnd for a declaration and an order that Major Mafart and
Captain Pricur return to the island of Hao;

in the light of the above decisions, recommends that the Gov-
crnments of the French Republic and of New Zealand set up a fund 1o
promote close and friendly relations between the citizens of the two
countries, and that the Government of the French Republic make an
initial contribution cquivalent to $US 2 million to that fund,
Done in English and in French in New York, on the 30 April, 1990.

Eduardo Jiménez DE ARECHAGA
President

Michael F. HoELLERING
Registrar

Arbitrator Sir Kenneth Kcith appends a Scparate opinion 1o the
Decision of the ‘Arbitral Tribunal.
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